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PASSIVE VOICE  

• Money spent on brain is never spent in vain. 

• A bird is known by its note, a man by its talk. 

• A man is known by the company he keeps. 

• Rome was not built in a day. 

• A bird may be known by its song. 

• The devil is not so black as he is painted. 

• The road to hell is paved with good intentions. 

• Marriages are made in heaven. 

• A name is sooner lost than won.  

• Don’t cry before you are hurt. 

• Poets are born, not made. 

• Life is made of little things. 

• He who is born a fool is never cured. 

• A bad wound is cured, not a bad name. 

 

The passive voice of an active tense is formed by putting the verb to be into 

the same tense as the active verb and adding the past participle of the active verb. 

The subject of the active verb becomes the ‘agent’ of the passive verb. The agent is 

very often not mentioned. When it is mentioned, it is preceded by by and placed at 

the end of the clause. 

Active: My father planted this plum-tree. 

Passive: This plum-tree was planted by my father. 

 

Tenses  Active Voice Passive Voice 



 

5 

 

Present Simple Ann opens the 

door 

The door is opened by Ann 

Past Simple Ann opened the 

door 

The door was opened by Ann 

Future Simple Ann will open the 

door  

The door will be opened by Ann 

Present Continuous  

 

Ann is opening 

the door  

The door is being opened by Ann 

Past Continuous  

 

Ann was opening 

the door  

The door was being opened by Ann 

Present Perfect  

 

Ann has opened 

the door  

The door has been opened by Ann 

Past Perfect  Ann had opened 

the door  

The door had been opened by Ann 

Future Perfect Ann will have 

finished the home 

task 

The home task will have been 

finished 

can  

 

Ann can open the 

door  

The door can be opened by Ann 

may Ann may open the 

door  

The door may be opened by Ann 

must  

 

Ann must open 

the door  

The door must be opened by Ann 
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should Ann should open 

the door 

The door should be opened by Ann 

 

The Passive is used: 

 

1. when the agent (=the person who fulfills the action) is unknown, unimportant or 

obvious from the context 

Jean was shot. (We don’t know who shot her.) 

This castle was built in 1815. (Unimportant agent) 

They have been arrested. (Obviously by the police) 

 

2. to make more polite or formal statements 

The car hasn’t been fixed. (more polite) (You haven’t fixed the car. – less polite) 

 

3. when the action is more important than the agent, as in processes, instructions, 

events, reports, headlines, new items, and advertisements. 

30 people were killed in the earthquake. 

 

4. to put emphasis on the agent. 

The new library will be opened by the Queen. 

 

BY OR WITH?  

In the passive voice, we use: 
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by with the agent to refer to by whom the action is being done. 

The door was opened by Mr Green. (Mr Green = agent) 

 

with to refer to the instrument, object or material that was used for  

something to be done. 

The door was opened with a key. (a key = the object that was used) 

The omelet was made with eggs, cheese and tomatoes. 

(eggs, cheese and tomatoes = the material that was used) 

 

Nota bene: 

The letter was written by John. 

The letter was written with a pencil. 

 

Nota bene: 

The picture is much spoken about. 

His friend can be relied on. 

The lecturer was listened to. 

 

Rememeber: 

hear of 

send for 
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speak of (about) 

pay attention to 

take care of 

laugh at 

look after 

look at 

rely on 

to listen to 

to look for 

to provide for 

to explain to 

 

Ex. 1. Translate into English: 

вона забула - її забули, він згадав - про нього згадали, ми запросили - нас 

запросили, ми виправили - помилку виправили, він вилікував - його 

вилікували, він подзвонив - йому зателефонували, я показав - мені показали, я 

порадив - мені порадили, вона допомогла - їй допомогли, ми запитали - нас 

запитали, вони відповіли - їм відповіли, ми відправили - лист відправили. 

Ex. 2. Choose the correct verb in the sentences below: 

1. The painting is still being / been discussed. 

2. Little obstacles can be solved / solve easily. 

3. The wedding castle is decorated / been decorated with red flowers. 

4. Are marriages made / been made in heavens? 

5. What is / can done cannot be undone /undid. 
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6. Her apartment looks nice, because it’s / it’s being cleaned and aired often. 

7. The floors are shiny, because they polish / are polished every week. 

8. All is well that is ended / ends well. 

9. Laws are made to be broken /to break. 

10. The man is not believed / belief when he is spoken / speaks. 

 Ex. 3. Work in pairs. Most of the sentences below have mistakes. Find and 

correct them. There are two examples (0) and (00) at the beginning: 

0  lived      My  friends were lived there. 

00  found     Gold was also find there. 

1       Rome was not builded in a day. 

2       The lady was resembled her father. 

3       She was not gave a chance to say a word. 

4       The drink was highly recommend. 

5       Who solved that difficult task? 

6       The psychiatrist has been sended for. 

7       Who was the cat taking care of by? 

8       Hands was washed before eating. 

9       What does the article devoted to? 

10       The room was held 22 people. 

Ex. 4. Read the text below. Then tell your partner about life in 2080. There is 

an example: In 2080 all the planets will be inhabited: 

In 2080 people will inhabit all the planets all over the Universe. People won’t 

use any bikes, cars, buses, planes, trains, etc., but would fly everywhere instead. 
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They will also grow almost all the vegetables, fruit and corns themselves. People 

will use a lot of space for forests, parks, gardens and orchards. People will save all 

the natural resources, because they will have the newest technologies. They won’t 

use electricity, oil petrol and gas as it will not be needed. Robots will do all the work. 

Ex. 5. Fill in the blanks with the correct tense of the passive voice using the 

verbs provided. 

1. We have to bring our own blankets to the picnic next week. Only chairs 

___________________ (provide). 2. The painting ____________________ (finish) 

by the end of the month. 3. I was going to clean the garage tonight but I see that it 

__________ already _________________ (clean). Did you clean it? 4. You don’t 

have to take any equipment. It _________________ (supply). 5. I applied for a new 

job last week, but I don’t know if I will get it. I _________________________ 

(inform) you soon. 6. There was an accident 1 hours ago, but I think an ambulance 

_________________already____________________(call). 7. The discussion 

_________________________________ (cancel) two times already this month. 8. 

The trash_____________________________ (not/collect) tomorrow because it’s a 

holiday. 9. Poor Tom! He _______________ never____________________ (tell) 

the truth about Ann’s feelings. 10. Don’t sit on those stairs! They ________ 

just___________________ (paint). 11. I bought a new dressing table yesterday, but 

it ________________________ (not/deliver) until next Wednesday. 12. He is a very 

talented artist. I’m sure he_________________________ (award) next year. 13. 

This is not a very safe district. Five houses ___________________(burgle) last year. 

14.He is a criminal, but he _______finally __________________ (imprison). 15. 

Mrs. Green is in the hospital, but I think she _________________ (discharge) as 

soon as possible. 

Ex. 6. Open the brackets using the appropriate form of the verb: 

1. My degree paper (to discuss) the day before yesterday. 2. Polo (not to play) 

in winter.  3. Apples (not to gather) in spring.  4. Many dwellings (to damage) during 



 

11 

 

the hurricane. 5. My latest book (to publish) by the next month. 6. Flowers (not to 

plant) in winter. 7. Kharkiv (to found) in 1654. 8. Oysters and caviar (not to eat) 

every day. 9. Messages (to receive) every hour. 10. Mike (to send) to LA next week. 

11. I (to praise) at the double period yesterday. 12. We (to present) a very interesting 

journal at the exhibition last Monday. 13. Many galleries (to build) every decade. 

14. We (to invite) to the speaking clubs often. 15. Lost time never (to find) again. 

16. Rome (not to build) in a day. 17. This job (must, to do) carefully. 18. This 

sentence (not to translate) by the previous student. 19. These apricot-trees (to plant) 

last decade by my relatives. 20. Many interesting tasks always (to carry out) during 

our English classes. 21. This tasty food (should, to give) to my lovely pets tomorrow.  

Ex. 7. Open the brackets using the appropriate form of the verb: 

1. You may (leave, be left) your fur coat in the hall. 2. They can (leave, be left) 

their umbrellas, bags and clothes at the reception. 3. From the airport station they 

will (take, be taken) straight to the wedding hall. 4. Soon he will (take, be taken) 

them to the Contemporary Arts Museum in NYC. 5. At the airport they will (meet, 

be met) by an interpreter from our translation office. 6. Alice will (meet, be met) us 

in the white hall upstairs. 7. The porter will (bring, be brought) my baggage to my 

room in the hotel. 8. Your luggage will (bring, be brought) up in the lift by the porter 

in the hotel.  

Ex. 8. Translate into English:  

1. Я часто відправляю квіти та цукерки своїм друзям. 2. Майкла часто 

відправляють за водою та продуктами. 3. Мене запрошують в гості кожної 

неділі. 4. Моїй сестрі завжди допомагають в інституті. 5. Я іноді забуваю взяти 

планшет. 6. Про нього напишуть у багатьох газетах. 7. Твори цього автора 

читають з величезним інтересом. 8. Пташки люблять сонячну погоду. 9. 

Домашніх тварин люблять у багатьох сім'ях. 10. Коли у вашій родині п'ють 

каву? 11. Я завжди хвалю своїх дітей. 12. Його завжди хвалять на уроках. 13. 

Ми часто згадуємо про вас. 14. Нас часто згадують в рідному місті. 15. Йому 
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дають вітаміни щоранку. 16. Щоранку я даю своїй собаці м'ясо та кашу. 17. Він 

завжди розповідає їм щось цікаве. 18. Йому щодня розповідають казки перед 

сном. 19. Де зберігаються старовинні полотна? 20. Чому ці обов’язки ніколи не 

виконуються? 21. Чому ви завжди забуваєте цю інформацію? 22. Де жили ваші 

приятелі минулого року? 23. Де купують гірськолижне спорядження та одяг? 

Ex. 9. Translate into English: 

1. Її зараз оглядає ендокринолог. 2. Саме зараз його уважно слухають і 

запитують. 3. Тепер район забудовується новими будинками, кафе, 

ресторанами та парками. 4. Зараз його хвалять усі викладачі. 5. Такий посуд 

миють обережно. 6. Цей комп'ютер саме зараз використовується директором. 

7. Чуєш, кажуть про економіку та геополітику. 8. Ця казка розповідається. 9. 

Фірмою керує моя дружина. 10. На зборах обговорюються результати роботи. 

11. Зараз у нас використовуються тільки ці еко-матеріали. 12. Дивись, твій ланч 

їдять. 13. При цьому п'ють багато кави. 14. Картопля готується, чекай! 15. 

Іноземну групу зараз зустрічають в аеропорту перекладачі. 16. Несіть каву! – 

Вона заварюється. 17. Їй задають це питання щоразу. 18. У цей час книгу 

редагують. 19. Цю роботу виконують щодня. 20. З ним прекрасно себе 

поводять. 21. Сейф зараз відкривають професіонали. 22. Зараз тут продають 

тільки італійські меблі. 23. Дивись, показують фотографії з відпочинку у 

Франції. 24. Їй зараз все пояснюють. 25. Цю квартиру якраз прибирають. 

Ex. 10. Translate into English: 

1. Нове вінтажне дзеркало в передпокій куплять скоро. 2. Аліса 

попросить мене підвезти її до роботи. 3. Тома попросять за все відповісти. 4. 

Учитель попросить мене зробити копії цього документу. 5. Лікарям та 

науковцям будуть вірити. 6. Завтра о дев’ятій я принесу новий ескіз. 7. Завтра  

на зборах представлять новий план дій. 8. Мій двоюрідний брат допоможе мені 

з політологією та математикою. 9. Моєму кузенові допоможуть спроектувати 

нове авто. 10. Нова будівля художнього музею буде розташована в центрі 
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нашого міста. 11. Квитки на літак принесуть післязавтра. 12. Тест писатимуть 

наступного четверга. 13. Бабусю попросять не хвилюватися. 14. Їй дадуть 

чашечку кави з молоком без цукру. 15. Вона подякує офіціанту за терпіння. 16. 

Результати обстеження будуть відправлені негайно. 17. Світильники повісять 

у вітальні та їдальні. 18. Вази поставлять на місце у шафі. 19. Коли пошиють 

мою весільну сукню? 20. Коли провітрять кабінет? 21. Як будуть виконувати 

це математичне обчислення? 

Ex. 11. Work in pairs. Most of the sentences below have mistakes. Find and 

correct them. There are two examples (0) and (00): 

0  was being made, were watching The dish was been made while you was 

watching the documentary. 

00  leaving While she was lefting the house, the 

story was being read.    

 

1  They was not allowed to use the phone while they 

was being at the meeting of the Board. 

2     The job had being done by 17:00. 

3   When the furniture has being delivered Mr. Green 

  was being busy. 

4      They were listening how the song was sang. 

5      The criminal was being seen when the fire  

     occurred. 

6      When he was being asked, the CEO  

     entered the office. 

7      The jewelry was disappeared while the guests of  

     honor were being shown around the mansion. 
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8     The question was discussed when he knocked on  

     the door. 

9      When the gate was being painted, the hosts arrived. 

10      He did not know what to do when he found out that  

     he has being watched. 

Ex. 12. Transform the sentences into the Passive Voice. See the example:  

They often speak about him. — He is often spoken about. 

1. The profs laughed at the young novices. 2. The foreign delegation spoke to 

the chief yesterday. 3. The young parents love their babies very much. 4. Nobody 

lived in that old haunted house. 5. They sent for the professor and asked him to 

prepare a lecture on that subject as soon as possible. 6. We thought about the poor 

peoples of Africa. 7. The best surgeon will operate on him in a month. 8. The boss 

asked his secretary to send for the employees. 9. They looked for the contact lens 

everywhere but could not find them. 10. Nobody sat in that arm-chair because of the 

uncomfortableness. 11. The next-door people asked for advice. 12. Everybody 

listened to the little girl with some surprise. 

Ex. 13. Translate into English: 

1. Її часто відправляють за продуктами до супермаркету. 2. Торік її 

відправили вчитися до Оксфорду, але вона повернулася у рідний університет. 

3. Цю старовинну картину повісять над каміном. 4. За допомогою звертаються 

до лікарів. 5. Офіціанта відправили за винною картою та серветками. 6. Дитину 

терпляче вислухають та нагодують. 7. Нас завжди запрошують на день 

народження. 8. Влітку цих рідкісних тварин вивезуть на Балі. 9. Про цей замок 

багато пишуть у путівниках. 10. У музеї сучасного мистецтва нам показали 

багато дивних незрозумілих картин. 11. Цю дорожню карту часто купують, 

коли їдуть до Італії. 
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Ex. 14. Transform the sentences into the Passive Voice. See the example: 

Susan waters the chamomiles every evening. — The chamomiles are watered every 

evening (by Susan). 

1. Ann's brother brought her some beautiful pink flowers from the dacha. 2. 

The investigators gave the newspaper journalists a brief interview. 3. Mr. Green will 

teach you some grammar morphology. 4. The psychologist ordered her a month's 

rest from working somewhere near the sea. 5. Grandparents gave Bob a trip to 

Jamaica for his birthday. 6. Our grandmother tells us tales every evening. 7. Liz will 

brew some English tea for you. 8. A policeman showed us the way. 9. They will send 

us a box of chocolates and a bunch of red roses. 10. Five small children followed 

their young parents in the newly opened theme park. 11. The boys often ride the 

horses in the field in summer. 12. William Shakespeare wrote many famous works. 

13. The wind blew off the straw hat. 14. We will play chess in the evening. 15. They 

water their cherry orchard regularly. 16. You promised me these books two weeks 

ago. 17. Ann's grandfather gave her a complete set of Shakespeare’s works. 18. The 

straw roof does not protect the house when it rains cats and dogs. 19. The brothers 

will paint the door of the house. 20. Her sister-in-law gave her two expensive and 

exclusive paintings as a birthday present. 

Ex. 15. Transform the sentences into the Passive Voice: 

1. It took him a long time to learn the poem by heart, but at last he did it and 

got “excellent” at the literature class. 2. Sh! Don't call my surname: somebody may 

hear it. 3. Why weren't the Greens at the welcoming party? — The Browns forgot to 

invite them. 4. We faced some cruel obstacles, but all the same we fulfilled the task 

perfectly. 5. I won’t tell you any secret any more if you are not able to keep your 

mouth shut. 6. He spent all his fortune on cars, clubs, restaurants and casinos in 

Monaco last year. 7. I don't think I will eat all this sea food: there is too much of it. 

8. It's a very strange thing that when I start thinking of my future, always interrupts 

me. 9. Don't leave the documents and keys on the table: somebody may take them. 
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10. The criminal broke the lock and burgled into the mansion. 11. The ants attacked 

him when he approached the ant-hill. 

Ex. 16.  Translate into English: 

1. Про твої пригоди в Латинській Америці говорили різне. 2. Він 

перевірив пульс, перш ніж бігти довгу дистанцію. 3. До вечора відому картину 

Моне повернули власнику. 4. Багаж було повністю доставлено, перш ніж він 

піднявся до номера сходами. 5. До кінця місяця його вже прооперували. 6. Ця 

книга була куплена, перш ніж ми сіли на поїзд. 7. Перш ніж повернувся 

чоловік, квартира була прибрана, а вечеря приготовлена. 8. Їй про все 

повідомили, перш ніж вона прочитала про це у новинах. 9. Перш ніж він 

повернувся до офісу, всі документи були підписані та відправлені закордон. 10. 

Речі були розкладені у валізи, як під'їхало таксі. 11. Піраміди в Гізі були 

побудовані кілька тисячоліть тому. 12. Перш ніж про це проінформували 

поліцію, секретний документ уже шукали два тижні. 13. Поліцію не викликали, 

викликали швидку допомогу. 14. Перш ніж вона приєдналася до їхньої родини, 

дітей погано виховували. 15. Маєток був добудований, перш ніж він переїхав 

до Іспанії. 16. Перш ніж він сів у авто, його гукнули. 17. Зміни були внесені до 

протоколу негайно. 18. Куріння у ресторані було заборонено ще до того, як на 

стіні з'явилася табличка «Курити забороняється!». 19. Перед поїздкою до 

Австралії, його навчили їздити верхи. 20. У притулку з дітьми добре 

поводилися, про них дбали. 21. Перш ніж вони вирушили в похід, їм розповіли, 

яких правил необхідно дотримуватися. 22. Сніданок був готовий, перш ніж 

дитина прокинулась. 23. Коли він повернувся з подорожі, вона вже вийшла 

заміж за його брата. 24. Це смс було відправлено вранці, але воно досі не 

доставлено. 25. Повість була перекладена іспанською мовою ще до смерті 

автора. 

Ex. 17. Transform the sentences into the Passive Voice: 
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1. One must think about the consequences of such misbehavior. 2. You cannot 

cross the street in the red light. 3. The employees may finish the work very soon. 4. 

You must return the jewelry to the shop tomorrow. 5. You must do these exercises 

every day if you want to get stronger and healthier. 6. You can find the sea food you 

need in any supermarket. 7. We must cope with this problem before he arrives. 8. He 

cannot easily forgive his friend’s betrayal. 9. You should add these berries to your 

pie to make it sophisticated and delicious. 10. You must use this old ladder very 

carefully in order not to fall down. 11. The surgeon says I must take my grandmother 

to the medical examination. 12. He can fix your racing car in two hours. 13. The 

students must revise all the material in order to pass the exams successfully. 14. You 

must listen to the prof! 

Ex. 18. Translate into English: 

1. Зуби необхідно чистити двічі на день – вранці та ввечері. 2. Квартиру 

потрібно щодня провітрювати. 3. Цих тварин потрібно годувати рослинною 

їжею. 4. Ці документи мають бути розкладені в алфавітному порядку. 5. Дітей 

треба хвалити та оберігати. 6. Вази з квітами треба розставити у вітрині 

магазину. 7. Цей ескіз можна повісити поруч із тією картиною. 8. Як можна 

перекласти цю тезу японською мовою? 9. Куди можна покласти парасольку? 

10. Чи можна встановити гойдалку у дворі? 11. На що потрібно звернути увагу 

у моїй доповіді? 12. Потрібно записати твої координати; вони можуть 

знадобитися. 13. Потрібно виміряти Ваш пульс і кров'яний тиск. 14. Його не 

можна запрошувати на вечірку. Вона буде зіпсована. 15. Їй можна 

запропонувати каву з молоком та цукром. 

Ex. 19. Translate into English: 

1. Квитки на цю гру розкупили ще на початку сезону. 2. Йому 

запропонували поїздку на Ямайку. 3. Усі мене уважно слухали, коли я 

доповідала? Можна ставити запитання? 4. Кава зварена? 5. У середу весь день 

фарбували дах та вікна. 6. Квіти та шампанське щойно принесли. 7. Він не міг 
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не здогадатися, що за ним постійно спостерігають. 8. Із закордонних поїздок 

туристи часто привозять пам'ятні сувеніри та магніти на холодильник. 9. У 

Франції виробляють найкращі і світі парфуми. 10. Сьогодні саджали квіти у 

нашому дворі. 11. Тут буде встановлено пам'ятник відомому герою народних 

казок. 12. Раніше під час виготовлення посуду переважно використовували 

красну глину. 13. Вже два роки у цьому домі живуть митці та письменники. 14. 

Мені подарували нове авто. 15. Ця істина була забута всіма. 16. Піраміди були 

збудовані єгиптянами? 17. Про тебе завжди добре дбатимуть у моїй сім'ї. 18. 

До початку урочистостей було підготовлено безліч сюрпризів та подарунків. 

19. Головний лікар увійшов, коли пацієнтів оглядали. 20. Квіти будуть зрізати 

та ставити у вази щодня. 21. Меблі потрібно почистити. 22. Вікно було 

відреставроване. 23. Товари були продані ще до того, як про них почали 

запитувати. 

Ex. 20. Work in pairs. Correct your partner concerning the authors of the 

inventions listed below. There is an example: telephone – Edison 

A: The telephone was invented by Edison, wasn’t it? 

B: No, it wasn’t. It was invented by Bell. 

1. law of gravitation – Samuel Morse 

_________________________________________________________________ 

2. Iliad – Charles Darwin 

_________________________________________________________________ 

3. America – Christopher Columbus 

_________________________________________________________________ 

4. Origin of Species – Homer 

_________________________________________________________________ 

5. radio – Albert Einstein 

_________________________________________________________________ 

6. cinemathograph  – Thomas Edison 
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_______________________________________________________________ 

7. airplane – Paul Cornu 

________________________________________________________________ 

8. electric bulb – brothers Lumiere 

________________________________________________________________ 

9. telegraph – Alexander Popov 

_________________________________________________________________ 

10. first underground – London or New-York 

_________________________________________________________________ 

11. helicopter – brothers Wright 

_________________________________________________________________ 

 

Ex. 21. Work in pairs. Keep correcting the mistakes. There is an example:  

0 by, with     The poem was written with Blake by a pen. 

1       The canvas was painted through an artist. 

2       The sum was done by Alice. 

3       The sketch was drawn by crayons. 

4       Pics have been taken via a specialist. 

5       The mittens were knitted with wool. 

6       The plates were dried up by a cloth. 

7       The skirt was ironed with the mother. 

Ex. 22. Open the brackets using the appropriate form of the verb: 

1. The difficult new material explained by the prof at the previous lecture (not to 

understand) by everyone. 2. The statuette was so stunning and rare that it (to admire) 

by all of us. 3. I hope this strict rule (to follow) by each of you. 4. The e-mail (to 

send) in few minutes. 5. It seems to me that music (to hear) from the neighboring 
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yard. 6. That competition (to win) by our students.  7. The problem (to solve) as soon 

as they get married. 8. Your pre-election speech must (to divide) into three parts. 9. 

Soon she (to send) to the Spanish language courses in Barcelona. 10. The purchase 

of a new Porsche for our company (to discuss) at the next meeting of the Board. 11. 

The essays must (to hand) in on Monday. 12. Yesterday she (to ask) to be in time. 

13. The magazine (to publish) last month, I am sure. 14. The classes (to attend) by 

everybody. 15. A waiter (to call) ten minutes ago. 16. That beautiful young lady (to 

introduce) to me only just half an hour ago, but it seems to me that I've known her 

for all my life. 

Ex. 23. Translate into English: 

1. Цю люстру купили тільки вчора. 2. Цих трьох робітників звільнили 

два дні тому. 3. Вас шукали вранці. 4. Ця картина була вкрадена з Лувру вночі. 

5. У цій майстерні роблять дуже гарні ювелірні вироби. 6. Фруктові страви у 

цьому ресторані краще замовляти влітку, а овочеві – цілий рік. 7. Про мої 

наукові досягнення зробили гарний фільм . 8. Їх відправили у відпустку до 

Греції два тижні тому. 9. Вчора нас нагородили за гарну роботу. 10. Цей закон 

було відкрито ще у минулому столітті. 11. Про народження дитини дізналися 

пізно ввечері. 12. Цю історію має знати вся група. 13. Це правило потрібно 

написати великими літерами. 14. Усі ваші художні роботи будуть відправлені 

до Великобританії на виставку  наступного тижня. 15. Це намисто не можна 

купити, це виставковий експонат. 

Ex. 24. Translate into English: 

1. Чому підлога не вимита? 2. Що вже було написано з цього питання? 3. 

Його лікували тут близько року. 4. Коли потрібно повернути автомобіль? 5. 

Його звільнили раніше, ніж про це стало відомо родині. 6. Коли тобі 

повідомили, що концерт відмінили? 7. Там за ними буде око та око. 8. Тієї 

хвилини їй саме це пояснювали. 9. Подивися, чи всі квіти полили! 10. Дітям 

наказали йти мовчки, дивлячись під ноги. 11. Усі документи вивчили до того, 
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як їх передали до міжнародного відділу. 12. Що можна зробити в такому 

випадку? 13. У цій залі зараз проходить прослуховування юних талантів. 14. 

Пообіцяли, що мені куплять нову сукню і черевички, якщо я здам екзамен на 

п’ять . 15. Здається, що за вами стежать. 16. Зачіска була зроблена відомим 

стилістом. 17. Треба ж щось робити! 18. Тут будується новий дитячий садочок. 

19. Секретні папери сховано надійно. 20. Завтра посилку принесуть додому. 21. 

Перед тим, як його сповістили, отримали рекомендований лист. 22. У Празі 

зараз відбувається зустріч на найвищому рівні. 23. Їй помилково вручили 

грамоту. 24. Подробиці стануть відомі скоро. 25. Перш ніж увійти у воду, дітей 

проінструктували. 

Ex. 25. Translate into English: 

1. Тістечка вже спекли? 2. Сказано, що зустріч перенесено на середу. 3. 

Коли ми приїхали до передмістя, їхній будинок все ще будувався. 4. Його ніхто 

не бачив кілька років, перш ніж він переїхав до Мадриду. 5. Тварин годували 

вранці. 6. Про це ніколи не згадують. 7. Що вже вивчено з цього питання? 8. 

Слідчого було доставлено на місце злочину. 9. Там проводять фестиваль 

танцю. 10. Кому з групи дадуть це завдання? 11. Йому вже підвищили 

зарплату? 12. Яка допомога буде надана постраждалим? 13. Поки ви спали, все 

вже з'їли. 14. Нічого не можна було говорити та робити в їхній присутності. 15. 

Їх просять не зважати на недоліки цього методу. 16. Оголосили, що дорогу 

перекрито з ночі. 17. Його просять не дотримуватись політики невтручання. 

18. Питання винесено на розгляд, треба чекати. 19. Зараз багаття розпалюють. 

20. Перш ніж вони образилися, на них довго не звертали уваги. 21. Його 

посварили за те, що він не тримає слова. 22. Тексти вже надруковано. 23. На 

чий рахунок переказали гроші? 24. Тоді мою книгу ще перекладали різними 

мовами. 25. Що вже зробили, щоб вирішити це питання? 

Ex. 26. Translate into English: 
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1. Коли він глянув на неї, її питали журналісти. 2. Вчора їм подарували 

Бентлі. В це важко повірити. 3. На недоліки вказали, перш ніж про них 

заговорили. 4. Їй зателефонували і сказали, що концерт іде вже годину. 5. Про 

це позитивно говорять. 6. Нам пояснили, що музей зачинено на реставрацію. 

7. Куріння заборонено! 8. Авто вже перефарбували? 9. Дисертацію з цієї 

тематики було захищено 3 роки тому у Лондоні. 10. Такі капелюхи вже не 

носять! Треба зняти! 11. Їй натякнули, що не треба спізнюватися. 12. Нехай 

тобі розкажуть усю правду! 13. Поки їй намагалися додзвонитися, коштовності 

вкрали. 14. Ким і коли збудовано Стоунхендж? 15. Це часто ставлять під 

питання. 16. За дітьми добре наглядають. 17. По ліки вже послали. 18. Вона 

захоплюється історією живопису. 19. Про цей новий вірус багато говоритимуть 

у пресі. 20. Цю хворобу неможливо вилікувати народними методами. 

Необхідно застосовувати антибіотики. 21. Мене відправили за квітами та 

шампанським. 22. Такі книги не читають у нашому суспільстві. 23. На той час 

багатоповерхівка вже була побудована. 24. Ця маленька неприємність буде 

швидко забута. 

Ex. 27. Translate into English: 

1. Нам пояснили, що має бути зроблено з цими документами. 2. Кожному 

лікарю скажуть, що треба зробити. 3. Марію попросили піти, незважаючи на 

те, що вона збиралася залишитися. 4. Нікому не дозволять тут балуватися. 5. 

Чи можна заспівати пісню? 6. Коли я проходила повз аптеки, мені подзвонили 

і поросили купити ліки. 7. Дітям наказали йти мити руки та вечеряти. 8. Нас 

порадували на зустрічі. 9. Чому йому тут забороняють показувати фокуси? 

Адже його знають у всьому світі! 10. У дитинстві мені не дозволяли дивитися 

телевізор. 11. Їй радять навчитися керувати. 12. Поки шукали гітару, її вмовили 

заспівати. 13. Йому радили займатися спортом. 14. Їй не дозволяють носити 

туфлі на високих підборах. 15. Нам сказали дзвонити пізніше. 16. Їй наказали 

прийти ввечері. 17. Їм усім пояснили, що така поведінка заборонена. 18. Йому 

не дозволили сісти за кермо. 19. Коли його запросять на роботу до Швеції? 20. 
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Коли пообіцяли повернути мою камеру? 21. Де їм дозволяється сісти? 22. Двері 

відчинилися, світло згасло. 23. Наш фільм покажуть на Канському фестивалі. 

24. Йому нагадали про її безмежні здібності запам’ятовувати інформацію. 25. 

Смачну каву принесуть щохвилини. 

Ex. 28. Translate into English: 

1. Чому йому нічого не порадили? 2. Його питали про це? 3. Питання 

було обговорено, коли Ви увійшли? 4. Їхній промах пробачили. 5. Їй заздрили. 

6. Її відсутність не помітили. 7. Його можуть вигнати з роботи за відсутність. 

8. Нам обіцяли більше, ніж можна собі уявити. 9. Коли я прийшов додому, 

готувався обід. 10. Брату розповіли кумедний анекдот про професора. 11. Їй 

покажуть їхні роботи з живопису. 12. Їй куплять новий ноутбук. 13. Нам 

продемонстрували, як це потрібно робити. 14. Йому пообіцяли роботу шеф-

кухаря в Мілані. 15. Вам нічого не розкажуть тут. 16. Цю хворобу не вміли 

лікувати на початку ХХІ століття. 17. Чи було задано багато домашнього 

завдання на канікули? 18. Картину їм не подарували. 19. Тобі нічого продадуть. 

20. Його ні про що не питали, коли побачили, в якому він стані. 21. Кому ви 

показали матеріали справи? 22. Коли вона проходила поряд, відчувався 

приємний аромат парфумів. 23. Вам там навіть попити не дадуть. 24. Годинник 

повернули вчора. 

Ex. 29. Translate into English: 

1. Зачинили вікна, відчинили двері, увімкнули музику. 2. Гроші 

повернули, перш ніж про них нагадали. 3. Поки дитина спала, пеклися пироги 

і варилася каша. 4. Усі обіцянки будуть виконані до понеділка. 5. Щодня 

винаходять величезну кількість нових рецептів салатів. 6. Ялинка вже 

прикрашена. 7. Кого вони зараз згадують? 8. Про кого вона сумує? 9. На цю 

тему можна нескінченно сперечатися. 10. Його погано виховали. 11. Це було 

зроблено без допомоги професіоналів. 12. Цю сукню потрібно носити з 

лаковою сумкою. 13. Незабаром можна буде повернути борг. 14. Ця страва 
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готується повільно. 15. Цей сир треба їсти з житнім хлібом, відвареними 

овочами, запиваючи віном. 16. Пам'ятник буде відреставрований. 17. Це 

потрібно робити, не замислюючись. 18. Схованки будуть знайдені, таємниці 

будуть розгадані. 19. Перед тим, як обсмажити сирійську капусту, її необхідно 

відварити. 20. Усі вправи вже зроблені, всі правила вже зрозумілі. 21. Що слід 

робити перекладачу в таких умовах? 22. Вона увійшла до кабінету у той 

момент, коли документи підписували. 23. Йому не довірять деактивацію 

атомної бомби. 24. Цього професора люблять та поважають. 

Ex. 30. Translate into English: 

1. Необхідно, щоб це було зроблено якісно. 2. Йому не давали шансу 

пояснити ситуацію. 3. Коли я увійшла, його нагороджували. 4. Рішення було 

знайдено до того, як сталася катастрофа. 5. Конференцію з лінгвістики 

проведено успішно! 6. З ним можна домовитись про що завгодно. 7. Квіти були 

подаровані дівчатам. 8. Шафа була переставлена на нове місце. 9. За 

вихованцями доглянуть сусіди. 10. Роман завершено. 11. Нам порадили 

звернутися до служби підтримки. 12. Поки шукали сумку, вона хвилювалася. 

13. Ми заблукали у передмісті Лондона. 14. Документи вивчали у той момент, 

коли про це дізналися керівники. 15. Машину продали ще минулого року, а їй 

нічого не говорили про це. 16. Усі вірші вже вивчені. 17. Нам повірять? 18. У 

сусідній кімнаті грають на піаніно. 19. Про цього дипломата завжди 

пам’ятають. 20. Перш ніж нам повідомили, всі приготування вже були 

зроблені. 
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INFINITIVE and GERUND 

 

• Everyone wants to go to heaven but nobody wants to 

die 

• Seeing's believing 

• Keeping early hours is good for the body and the mind 

• It goes without saying that health is above wealth 

• What is worth doing is worth doing well 

• It’s no use crying over spilt milk 

• Eating and scratching wants but a beginning 

 

THE FORMS OF THE INFINITIVE 

An infinitive can be a to-infinitive or a bare infinitive (without to). There is 

no difference in meaning between them; some structures require a to-infinitive, 

while others call for a bare infinitive: 

 

I ought to call them. (to-infinitive) 

I had better call them. (bare infinitive) 

 

As the infinitive has no tense, it does not in itself indicate the time of the action 

that it refers to. However, it can have aspect, which shows the temporal relationship 

between the action expressed by the infinitive and the time of the preceding verb. 

There are four types of infinitive, each of which has an active and passive form: 
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  Active Passive 

Simple infinitive (to) write (to) be written 

Continuous infinitive (to) be writing  

Perfect infinitive (to) have written (to) have been written 

Perfect continuous infinitive (to) have been writing  

 

The simple infinitive refers to the same time as that of the preceding verb: 

I was glad to see her. 

My son's coach is said to be a great professional. 

 

The continuous infinitive refers to the same time as that of the preceding verb and 

expresses an action in progress or happening over a period of time: 

I'm glad to be talking to you. 

Tom was reported to be living in LA at that time. 

 

The perfect infinitive refers to a time before that of the preceding verb: 

I'm glad to have finished that course. 

 

The perfect continuous infinitive refers to a time before that of the preceding verb 

and expresses an action in progress or happening over a period of time: 

I'm glad to have been living in Kharkiv for the past ten years. 

The organizers were thought to have been preparing for months. 

 

Passive infinitives are also possible: 

Your composition has to be checked. (passive simple infinitive) 

This work must have been written by W. Blake. (passive perfect infinitive) 
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THE FORMS OF THE GERUND 

 

The gerund is an -ing form. It can be simple or perfect, active or passive: 

 

  Active Passive 

Simple gerund writing        being written 

Perfect gerund having written       having been written 

   

As the gerund has no tense, it does not in itself indicate the time of the action 

that it refers to. However, it can show whether this time is the same as or earlier than 

the time of the verb in the main clause. 

 

The simple gerund can refer to the same time as that of the verb in the main 

clause: 

I hate contradicting you. (contradicting refers to the same time as hate: I hate 

when I contradict.) 

Tom suggested going to the cinema. (going refers to the same time as 

suggested: Tom suggested that we should go to the cinema.) 

 

The simple gerund can also refer to a time before that of the verb in the main 

clause: 

I don't remember doing anything like that. (doing refers to a time before 

don't remember: I don't remember that I did anything like that.)  

She regretted not studying harder when she was at school. (not studying 

refers to a time before regretted: She regretted that she hadn't studied harder 

when he was at school.) 

 

The perfect gerund refers to a time before that of the verb in the main clause.  
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She denied being married then. (the simple gerund being refers to the same 

time as denied: She denied that she was married.) 

She denied having been married before. (the perfect gerund having been 

refers to a time before denied: She denied that she had been married.) 

 

Passive gerunds are also possible: 

I hate being stared at. (passive simple gerund: I hate it when people stare at 

me.) 

He complained of having been lied. (passive perfect gerund: He complained 

that they had lied to him.) 

 

INFINITIVE vs. GERUND 

 

Bare infinitive (without to) 

 

The infinitive without to (bare infinitive) is used as follows. 

 

1. After modal verbs - can, may, must, needn't, dare... 

I can do it.    He may call her.  

You must say it.   We needn't go there.  

 

The verbs dare and need can also be followed by the infinitive with to. In such 

sentences we use do to make questions and negatives. 

I dared not speak to you. or   I didn't dare to speak to you. 

These two sentences have the same meaning, only the form is different. 

 

You needn't follow his advice. (You don't have to follow his advice.) or  

You don't need to follow his advice. (There is no need to follow his advice.) 

These two sentences are different in the form and meaning, too. 
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2. After the verbs of senses - feel, hear, see, watch, notice. 

We saw him enter the room. I heard him say this. 

It is more common, however, to use -ing form in English after the verbs of senses. 

We saw you kissing him. I heard you saying this. 

But: in the passive voice the infinitive with to must be used after these verbs. 

He was seen to drive a new BMW. 

 

3. After some more expressions - let, make, would rather, had better, help. 

Don't let him leave. She made me cry. I'd rather stop here. You'd better have 

a rest. I helped them go upstairs. 

The verb help can also be followed by the infinitive with to. 

I helped them to go updtairs. 

But: the passive voice is followed by the infinitive with to. 

I was made to tell the truth. He was let to leave. 

 

Verbs followed by gerund or infinitive 

 

In the English language there are verbs followed by infinitive, other verbs 

followed by gerund and there are also verbs followed by infinitive and gerund. 

 

1. Verbs followed by infinitive only: 

 

learn, manage, offer, order, permit, persuade, plan, prepare, pretend, promise, 

refuse, remind, seem, agree, appear, arrange, ask, choose, decide, demand, 

encourage, fail, forbid, force, hope, instruct, invite, swear, warn 

 

He decided to go to the university. We hoped to win the Cup.  

Did he seem to love her?  
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2. Expressions and phrasal verbs followed by infinitive: 

 

do one's best, make up one's mind, be about, set out, turn out 

 

He was about to shout. I did my best to be the first. I haven't made up my 

mind to divorce yet.  It turned out to be my friend. We set out to water the 

garden. 

 

3. The verbs followed by gerund only: 

 

dislike, enjoy, escape, excuse, finish, forgive, imagine, insist, keep, mind, miss, 

practise, prevent, admit, consider, delay, risk, suggest, understand 

 

She admitted working there. Did you escape being questioned?  

I don't want to risk being late. 

 

Excuse (for), forgive (for) and prevent (from) are used with three different forms: 

 

Excuse my being late.  

Excuse me being late.  

Excuse me for being late. 

 

4. Expressions and phrasal verbs followed by gerund: 

 

can't stand, can't help, care for, give up, be against, be interested in, look forward 

to, it's no use/good, it's worth 

 

I can't stand watching long movies. I can't help laughing at his jokes.  

Don't give up improving yourself. It's no use talking too much.  
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Is the book worth reading? 

 

5. Verbs followed by infinitives and gerunds. 

 

A. With the same meaning: 

 

can't bear, continue, intend, it requires, it needs, it wants, permit, recommend, 

begin, advise, allow, start 

 

Did you continue driving/to drive?  

He can't bear smoking/to smoke. 

 

If the verbs advise, allow, permit, recommend are used with the indirect object, 

they are followed by infinitive. If not, gerund must be used. 

 

They didn't allow us to sit there. They didn't allow sitting there. 

She recommended Alice to marry Tom.  

She recommended marrying Tom. 

 

After the expressions it needs/requires/wants gerund is more common than 

infinitive. 

 

The car needs fixing/to be fixed.  

The plant wants watering/to be watered. 

 

B. The verbs that have a different meaning with gerund or infinitive. 

 

Remember / forget  

I remember watching the movie. It was marvelous. 

We use gerund to talk about earlier actions. 
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I remembered to watch the movie. And so I switched on the TV. 

The infinitive is used to talk about following actions. 

 

Try 

I tried typing a document because I needed to test my new laptop.  (I made an 

experiment with my laptop.) 

I tried to type a document because I needed it. (I made an attempt to get it ready.) 

 

Love / like / hate / prefer 

In the conditional tense these verbs are used with the infinitive. 

I'd like to swim. I'd love to swim. I'd hate to swim. I'd prefer to swim. 

In other tenses they are used with gerund or infinitive, but both forms have a 

slightly different meaning. 

I like swimming. I love swimming. I hate swimming. I prefer swimming. 

I like to swim. I love to swim. I hate to swim. I prefer to swim. 

 

Compare: 

I like working on the computer. (I enjoy it.) 

I like to work on my PC at home. (I don't enjoy it, but I do it, because it is 

convenient.) 

I hate dusting the furniture. (It is my least favorite activity. I never enjoy it.) 

I hate to dust the furniture on Sundays. (I don't mind dusting, but not on Sundays.) 

 

Go on 

After dinner he went on playing the piano. 

The gerund is used when we want to say that a previous activity continues. 

He gave us a cup of coffee and then he went on to play the piano. 

The infinitive is used when we want to describe an activity that follows a previous 

action. 
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Stop 

I stopped drinking coffee. (This means that I do not drink coffee anymore.) 

I stopped to drink coffee. (I made a pause to have a cup of coffee.) 

 

Mean 

I didn't mean to offend you. (I say that I didn't do it on purpose.) 

We can go to Japan. But it means spending a lot of money. (In this sentence we 

describe the consequences.) 

 

Be afraid 

She was afraid of driving a car. (Car-driving is something that frightens her.) 

She was afraid to drive Bill’s car. (She doesn't mind driving, but driving Bill’s car 

frightens her.) 

 

I'm sorry 

I'm sorry for telling the lies. (I apologize for a previous action.) 

I'm sorry to tell you that your appointment is delayed. (I apologize for something 

that will happen.) 

The infinitive with this expression can also mean sorrow: 

I'm sorry to hear that you have divorced. 

 

Nota bene: 

• to cut a long story short  

• to tell (you) the truth  

• to say nothing of  

• to put it mildly  

• to say the least of it  

• to begin with  
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• The book leaves much to be desired.  

• He is difficult to deal with.  

• He is hard to please.  

• She is pleasant to look at.  

INFINITIVE 

Ex. 1. Put “to” before the infinitive where it is necessary.  

1. My daughter asked me ____ let her ____ go to the night club. 2. You must make 

me ____ practice fitness every day. 3. She was made ____ repeat the whole lecture. 

4. I am not sure that such work can ____ be done, but I want ____ try. 5. Let me 

____ help you with your task. 6. He asked me ____ read the letter and ____ write an 

answer immediately. 7. You ought ____ take care of your family. 8. I looked for the 

glasses everywhere but could not ____ find them anywhere. 9. He was seen ____ 

leave the Irish pub late at night. 10. They had ____ put on their warm coats and 

scarfs because it was too cold. 11. The men told me not ____ drink the water from 

the well. 12. Have you heard her ____ sing? 13. You had better ____ go home now. 

14. I would rather not ____ push this button. 15. They will take a taxi so as not ____ 

miss the plane.  

Ex. 2. Put “to” before the infinitive where it is necessary.  

1. We think you ought ____ forgive your son. 2. Let him ____ speak louder. 3. Help 

me ____ do this job. 4. His son asked me ____ let him ____ go for a walk. 5. I must 

____ go home. 6. It cannot ____ be realized so soon. 7. We had better ____ stop to 

rest a little. 8. I don’t know what ____ do. 9. We have arrived ____ ask whether we 

can ____ help you. 10. They heard the siren ____ sound and saw the police cars 

____ pass by. 11. I cannot ____ visit you now, I have some exercises ____ translate. 

12. During the storm the people felt the boat ____ be tossed. 13. She said that she 

might ____ arrive in the evening. 14. I was made ____ wait 2 hours. 
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Ex. 3. Translate into English. 

1. Сказати правду, мені не подобаються роботи цього письменника. 2. Їм 

не було чого роботи. 3. Хто винен у цьому? 4. Коротше кажучи, він не готовий 

до заняття. 5. У нашій родині батько завжди піклується про усіх. 6. З нею 

приємно говорити на різні теми. 7. Щоб перекласти статтю, ви повинні 

скористатися моїми порадами. 8. Йому є де жити і влітку, і взимку. 9. Про те, 

щоб йти до театру п’ятий раз на тиждень, не могло бути й мови. 10. Йому не 

було з ким порадитись. 11. Учора Еліс прийшла до університету першої. 12. 

Щоб отримати відмінну оцінку, ви маєте багато навчатися. 13. З ним важко 

вести справи. 14. Що робити? 15. Почнемо з того, що він мій чоловік. 16. Щоб 

читати Агату Крісті в оригіналі, ви повинні добре знати англійську мову. 17. 

М'яко кажучи, він непорядна людина. 18. Він не був винним. 19. Дитині нема 

з ким грати. 20. Побачити означає повірити. 21. Щоб встигнути на урок, ви 

повинні поспішати. 22. Не може бути й мови про купівлю нової шуби цього 

року. 23. Ваш переклад залишає бажати кращого. 

Ex. 4. Translate into English. 

1. Він хоче, щоб ми поставили всі ці запитання. 2. Я хотів би, щоб ви 

звертали більше уваги на фонетику. 3. Він хоче, щоб його син став лікарем. 4. 

Він хоче, щоб його відправили до Флоренції на виставку старовинних творів 

мистецтва. 5. Вона хоче, щоб її запросили на вечірку з нагоди його повернення. 

6. Ми не хотіли, щоб нас відволікали від перекладу. 7. Чи хотіли б ви, щоб вас 

вважали героєм? 8. Я хочу, щоб документи моєї родини були повернені. 9. 

Лікар не хоче, щоб вас оперували наступного місяця. 10. Він хоче, щоб борги 

були повернені. 11. Вона не хоче, щоб діти використовували смартфони у 

навчанні. 12. Чоловік любить, щоб обід був вчасний. 13. Викладач не любить, 

коли його не слухають. 14. Він не хоче, щоб про нього забули. 

 Ex. 5. Translate into English. 
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1. Я рада, що познайомила вас зі своїм чоловіком. 2. Я радий, що мене 

запросили на цей фестиваль мистецтв. 3. Я хочу познайомити вас із моєю 

родиною. 4. Я хочу, щоб мене запросили на виставу. 5. Я рада, що зустріла цю 

людину у Лондоні. 6. Я рада, що мене підвезли додому. 7. Ми дуже щасливі, 

що переїхали, зробили ремонт, купили нові меблі та нове авто. 8. Ми дуже 

щасливі, що нас запросили на відпочинок на Балі. 9. Він буде щасливий 

відвідати цю відому виставку середньовічних монет. 10. Він був щасливим, що 

відвідав цю знамениту виставку монет. 11. Мої діти люблять, коли їм 

розповідають добрі історії. 12. Він не припускав витрачати так багато грошей 

на всякі дрібниці. 13. Я не сподівався, що мене нагородять. 14. Я шкодую, що 

завдав їй стільки болю. 15. Він не може терпіти, коли його дурять. 16. Я 

згадала, що вже зустрічала його в одному з магазинів брендового одягу на 

Лайм Стріт. 17. Мені дуже шкода, що я пропустила затемнення сонця. 18. Вона 

щаслива, що чула, як співає цей найвідоміший тенор. 19. Вона рада, що змогла 

допомогти батькам купити новий будинок. 20. Вона дуже задоволена, що сама 

пошила таку чудову сукню. 21. Наша збірна пишається тим, що здобула 

перемогу на чемпіонаті. 22. Я тільки хочу, щоб тварин нагодували та напоїли. 

23. Я був вдячний, що мене поселили у будинку для гостей. 24. Він був 

щасливий, що жив у Цюріху у 90-х роках. 25. Він був щасливим, що живе у 

Франції. 26. Вона шкодує, що запізнилася на відкриття. 27. Я шкодую, що 

ніколи не можу прийти вчасно. 28. Сестра була щаслива, що їде на міжнародну 

конференцію з лінгвістики до Праги. 29. Для мене честь познайомитись з вами. 

30. Я був радий, що познайомився із цим письменником на презентації його 

нової книги у Відні рік тому. 

Ex. 6. Translate into English. 

1. Дитина була щаслива, що її привезли додому. 2. Еліс згадала, що вже 

багато чула про нього. 3. Діти були щасливі, що їх привели до цирку. 4. Я 

шкодую, що ця новина зіпсувала вам свято. 5. Мені було дуже шкода, що я 

забула погодувати тварин. 6. Я дуже радий, що зустрів тебе. 7. Вибачте, що 
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приніс Вам так багато складнощів. 8. Я дуже щасливий, що мав нагоду 

познайомитися з вами. 9. Я шкодую, що змусив вас чекати годину. 10. Том був 

радий, що Анна кохає. 11. Жаль, що не помітив вас на виставці. 12. Я шкодую, 

що засмутив вас своєю розповіддю 13. Коли Мішель подивився на дівчину, він 

згадав, що вже бачив її у кав’ярні на Хай Стріт. 14. Я згадав, що ця сцена 

фільму дуже зворушила мене. 

Ex. 7. Translate into English. 

1. Гра в карти приносила йому гроші. 2. Дитина не любила купатися. 3. 

Хіба це не природно, що людям подобається, коли їх люблять, і не подобається, 

коли їх не люблять? 4. Що тобі подобається: дарувати чи отримувати 

подарунки? 5. Природа має багато таємниць, які ще треба відкрити. 6. Щоб 

покращити вимову, вам необхідно спілкуватися з носієм мови. 7. Це контейнер 

для зберігання ягід. 8. Той факт, що мене проінструктував цей фахівець, був 

величезною перевагою. 9. Він не любить, коли йому нагадують про його 

минуле. 

Ex. 8. Translate into English. 

1. Напевно, піде дощ, якщо ви не візьмете капелюх та парасольку. 2. Не 

варто обіцяти, що ви приїдете, якщо ви не впевнені, що у вас буде час. 3. Він 

був щасливий, що його покохала ця дівчина. 4. Він дуже пишався тим, що 

допоміг своєму старшому братові вирішити ці проблеми. 5. Вона жалкувала, 

що пропустила початок балету. 6. Я радий бачити своїх друзів знову. 7. Він 

кожного разу боявся проходити повз ту покинуту будівлю. 8. Моя сестра буде 

щаслива з'явитися на вечорі у такій елегантній сукні. 9. Ми повинні почекати, 

доки нам не повідомлять результати її обстеження. 10. Вона щаслива, що 

купила віллу на березі Індійського океану. 11. Радий приєднатися до вас за 

грою в шахи. 12. Він сподівається, що завтра йому стане краще. 

Ex. 9. Translate into English. 
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1. Він хотів допомогти нам опублікувати цей підручник. 2. Начальник 

наказав нам розробити план дій в екстрених ситуаціях. 3. Вона вирішила 

порадувати його і приготувала смачну вечерю. 4. Дизайнери порадили 

використати інше освітлення для виставки. 5. Еліс вирішила спочатку 

відпочити, а потім приєднатися подорожі містом зі своїми друзями. 6. Я завжди 

готовий приїхати! 7. Вона зайшла до вет-аптеки, щоб купити вітаміни для 

домашніх тварин. 8. Дочка зателефонувала батькам, щоб спитати дозволу. 9. 

Щоб вийти за тебе заміж, мені потрібна згода батьків. 10. Еліс не хотіла бути 

причиною їхнього розлучення. 11. Вони вирішили написати книгу про життя в 

Кореї. 12. Йому не дозволяли валяти дурня. 13. Їй було соромно, що так погано 

вчинила зі своїми друзями. 14. Мені пощастило, і я купив старовинну брошку 

ручної роботи. 15. Еліс була досить волелюбна, щоб виходити за нього заміж. 

16. Ми чекали, коли приїде мій брат. 17. Їй наказали спекти величезний пиріг 

на 15 персон. 18. Сім'я хотіла, щоб вона з ним ніколи більше не зустрічалася. 

19. Мама наполягала, щоб діти вивчали іноземні мови. 20. Такий хід може 

дозволити йому виграти цю партію, але не всю гру. 

Ex. 10. Translate into English. 

1. Думаєш, чи зможе він про таке забути? 2. Він приїхав на вечірку 

першим, а пішов останнім. 3. Нікому не подобається пити холодну каву. 4. Вона 

почала активно займатися спортом. 5. Не сподівайтесь, що я підтримаю вас на 

зборах. 6. Бажаєте відкрити вікно чи увімкнути кондиціонер ? 7. Батьки 

бажали, щоб їхні діти досягли успіхів. 8. Я була вдячна йому за його підтримку 

у скрутну хвилину. 9. Ми б хотіли замовити шніцель та пиво. 10. Я дуже хотіла 

відвідати Голландію навесні. 11. Щоб отримувати високу зарплату, необхідно 

бути висококваліфікованим спеціалістом. 12. Пасивний спосіб життя шкодить 

здоров'ю. 13. Мені подобається робити компліменти. 14. Я не хочу, щоб мене 

тут бачили. 15. Я обіцяю виконувати це правило завжди. 16. Вона взяла 

відпустку, щоб поїхати до моря. 17. Вона визирнула у вікно, щоб попрощатися. 
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18. Він приготувався їхати. 19. Корисно проводити час на свіжому повітрі. 20. 

Я бачив, як він паркував авто біля будинку. 

 

GERUND 

Ex. 1. Translate into Ukrainian, paying attention to gerund. 

1. Fixing shoes is his main activity. 2. It goes without saying. 3. Living in 

Rome means admiring all its stunning sights every day. 4. Gold and silver can be 

found by digging in the earth. 5. There are two ways of managing the woman: but 

nobody knows them. 6. Alice was fond of arts. 7. She was in the habit of nosing into 

others’ business. 8. Have they finished discussing the topic? 9. Taking a glass of 

water with lemon juice in the morning is useful. 10. I like driving a car, but my friend 

prefers cycling. 11. She likes walking along this alley. 12. It looks like snowing. 13. 

My fridge wants repairing. 14. Thank you for helping a lot. 15.He had no hope of 

going abroad before the end of the year. 16. I had the pleasure of communicating 

with the professor. 17. Let's go sailing in the Mediterranean Sea. 18. He ate, drank 

and smoked without stopping. 19. Elephants can walk long distances without feeling 

tired. 

Ex. 2. Translate into Ukrainian, paying attention to gerund. 

A. I am looking forward to going to Rome. 

B. Really? I'm not. I can't stand visiting touristic cities. 

A. But Rome is great. I love seeing the Coliseum, the museums, the historical 

monuments...  

B. І hate visiting such places. I'm not looking forward to going there at all. 

A. Oh, it's so wonderful! I like vising Italian restaurants! I like watching smart 

Italian citizens!  

B. I am sure to tell you, I hate visiting big and noisy cities! 



 

40 

 

A. Oh, come on! It'll be marvelous. Rome is a great place and this capital is 

worth seeing! 

Ex. 3. Use gerund with the preposition of, as it is given in the example: 

E.g. She thought she would call him. – She thought of calling him. 

1. He thought he would repair the furniture tomorrow. 2. I think that I’ll go to 

the seaside to have a rest. 3. What do you think she will buy in that shop? — I don't 

know; I thought she would buy some perfume. 4. I know there are some Chinese 

journals at our university bookstall now. — So you are thinking that you will buy 

some, aren't you? 5. I thought I would meet my girl-friend tonight, but I have no 

time. 

Ex. 4. Use gerund with the preposition after, as it is given in the example: 

E.g. When I had printed everything I needed, I went home. – After printing 

everything I needed, I went home. 

1. After she had cooked dinner, she cleaned the flat. 2. When he had found out 

more about that idea, he found that it was much more important than he had 

supposed. 3. After I had hesitated some time whether to buy the house or not, I finally 

decided to buy it. 4. When she had graduated from the university, she left her native 

city and went to travel around the country. 5. When he had gathered all the material 

as to the problem, he started studying methods of improving the situation. 

Ex. 5. Translate into English: 

1. Вони завжди мріяли жити у невеликому та затишному будиночку на 

березі океану. 2. Їм не подобалося жити у великому місті. 3. Вони думали про 

купівлю нового будинку. 4. Зараз їм дуже подобається жити у віллі на березі 

моря. 5. Вони нудьгують тому, що не бачаться зі своїми колишніми сусідами. 

6. Вони любили спілкуватися зі своїми друзями. 7. Вони люблять готувати і 

роблять це дуже добре. 8. Їм не подобається прати та гладити. 9. Вони не 

люблять вставати рано, але їм доводиться їхати на роботу. 10. Їм подобається 
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керувати авто. 11. Вони завжди мріяли подорожувати. 12. Але вони бояться 

літати літаком. 13. Вони люблять давати інтерв'ю. 14. Вони люблять 

фотографуватися, бо вважають себе гарною парою. 

Ex. 6. Translate into Ukrainian, paying attention to the forms of gerund. 

1. We understand her wishing to graduate from this University. 2. All people 

will be able to see and hear it, there is no preventing it. 3. At last I broke the awkward 

silence by paying everybody’s attention to the latest news. 4. On being told their 

favorite tale, the children fell asleep. 5. The painting is worth seeing. 6. Watching 

racing in Monaco may be thrilling enough. 7. He stopped calling us, and I wondered 

what had happened to him. 8. Can you remember reading this book before? 9. She 

was afraid of having to speak to her mother, and even more, of being spoken to. 10. 

I was on the point of heading for London, because it was time. 11. After being 

examined by the prof the students were given some recommendations. 12. Alice 

wondered at her parents’ having allowed the marriage. 

Ex. 7. Translate into Ukrainian, paying attention to the forms of gerund. 

1. She keeps insisting on my buying her this coat. 2. Oh, please, do stop 

making noise. 3. Do you mind my assisting you in such a situation? 4. Would you 

mind having a cup of coffee in a day or two? 5. I really mind wearing this dress. 6. 

He could not help telling that story again and again. 7. I cannot put off cooking 

dinner. 8. Though Alice was exhausted, she went on walking in the direction of those 

mountains. 9. She avoided telling them about the award. 10. The child burst out 

shouting on seeing his mother. 11. We burst out speaking about the latest news. 12. 

She denied having washed the car that day. 13. I enjoyed talking about the pleasures 

of sunbathing. 14. Excuse my leaving you on such a day. 15. Please forgive her 

nosing into your business. 16. She gave up arguing with her husband. 17. They went 

on jogging. 18. Her boyfriend used to smoke, but he stopped smoking one year ago. 

19. Have you finished watching that awful TV-show yet? 20. Don't be nervous! Stop 

biting your nails. 21. She postponed flying to Valencia as she felt bad. 
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Ex. 8. Translate into English using gerund: 

1. Продовжуйте малювати. 2. Ми закінчимо обговорення цієї теми 

найближчим часом. 3. Продовжуйте спілкуватися японською мовою. 4. Ви не 

проти того, щоб взяти участь в конференції наступного місяця? 5. Він 

заперечував, шо мав відношення до неї. 6. Діти дуже люблять мріяти. 7. Вони 

отримали задоволення від розмови з митцем. 8. Я не могла не купити цю 

сукню. 9. Він розкричався на дітей без жодної причини. 10. Вона перестала 

сперечатися на цю тему. 11. Вона уникала розмов про приватне життя. 12. Ми 

відкладемо поїздку за місто. 13. Нарешті вони перестали курити. 14. Вона 

заперечувала, що була знайома з ним зі школи. 15. Давайте відкладемо розмову 

до наступної середи. 16. Вибачте, що я втратила контроль і різко відреагувала 

на запитання. 17. Коли вона допише свою нову книгу? 18. Я не заперечую 

проти того, щоб залишитися вдома та попрацювати над дисертацією. 19. 

Перестаньте тремтіти. Не показуйте цим людям, що ви їх боїтеся. 20. Я не 

можу не турбуватися про брата: він перестав дзвонити. 21. Я не заперечую, що 

бачив його того вечора в ресторані на Лайм Стріт з гарною дівчиною. 22. Він 

не заперечував, щоб його оглянув лікар: він перестав вдавати, що здоровий. 23. 

Він не може мене пробачити за те, що я загубила його блокнот. 24. Вона 

заперечувала, що брала мій ноутбук. 25. Хлопчик любить командувати дітьми 

в дитячому садку. 26. Будь ласка, вибачте мій поганий почерк. 27. Чи не могли 

б ви дати мені його адресу, коли дізнаєтесь? 28. Син уникав дивитися в очі 

батькам, тому що йому було соромно, що він збрехав їм раніше. 29. Вона не 

могла не думати, що її друг зробив таку помилку. 30. Вибачте мені, будь ласка, 

що я відкрила Вашу папку помилково. 31. Він кинув погані звички і щодня 

отримує задоволення від здорового способу життя. 

Ex. 9. Translate into Ukrainian, paying attention to the forms of gerund. 

1. My girlfriend succeeded in cooking well. 2. He suspected her of knowing 

all the truth and keeping it secret. 3. The poor thanked the rich heartily for having 

provided him with food, clothes and dwelling. 4. He gave up the idea of ever 
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marrying her. 5. We are looking forward to entering Oxford University. 6. She has 

always dreamt of living somewhere near the ocean. 7. She persisted in moving to 

Goa. 8. The cold weather prevented us from enjoying our outdoors activity. 9. Alice 

thought of leaving England after her marriage. 10. They accused him of having 

betrayed her. 11. I will never agree to our accepting their invitation. 12. He did not 

approve of her smoking cigars. 13. The teacher of Phonetics did not approve of his 

pupils making noise. 14. All the happiness of your life depends on my loving you. 

15. I don't feel like driving home right now. 16. I insisted on being told all the details 

of the case. 17. I objected to his borrowing money from me. 18. Mr. Green stretched 

out his hand to prevent Alice from falling down. 19. I was afraid of upsetting my 

mom. 20. I'm looking forward to having a long sleep. 21. They congratulated 

themselves on having won the Cup. 

Ex. 10. Translate into English using gerund: 

1. Дякую вам, що ви так підтримали мене. 2. Її звинуватили в тому, що 

вона взяла всі коштовності та виїхала закордон. 3. Вона заперечувала, що 

знайома з ним з дитинства. 4. Вона наполягала на тому, що ніколи не була 

одружена. 5. Він боявся, що його розпитуватимуть про неї. 6. Звуки музики із 

сусідньої зали не давали йому зосередитись на написанні статті. 7. Він думає 

про те, щоб запросити її на каву. 8. Дівчинка заперечувала, що до неї погано 

ставляться вдома. 9. Я наполягаю на тому, щоб сказати йому все у вічі. 10. Вона 

з нетерпінням чекала на зустріч із чоловіком після довгого розставання. 11. Я 

не хочу сьогодні готувати вечерю. Може повечеряємо у ресторані? 12. Йому 

вдалося зробити дуже зрозумілу доповідь з філософії. 

Ex. 11. Open the brackets using active or passive gerund: 

1. The lecture was always ready for (to answer) any questions. 2. We were 

extremely glad of (to support) in such a trouble. 3. On (to allow) to leave the cottage, 

the children ran out into the back yard and started (to play) hide-and-seek. 4. In (to 

prepare) the material for the examination, they came across some very interesting 
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facts. 5. The results of the entrance examination must be re-checked several times 

before (to reveal). 6. Alice was happy of (to praise) all the time. 7. The floor and roof 

need (to repair). 8. The article is not worth (to discuss). 9. She remembered (to 

present) huge bunches of red roses. 10. Why does he avoid (to ride) the horse? 11. 

She tried to avoid (to talk) to him. 12. The professor insisted on (to explain) the cause 

of the student’s absence. 13. The boy insisted on (to go) for a walk. 14. Do you mind 

their (to smoke) in this room? 15. She gave no sign of (to see) us. 16. The old lady 

showed no sign of (to shock). 17. She had a bad habit of (to nose) into everybody’s 

lives. 18. The CEO was angry at (to interjaculate) every time. 

Ex. 12. Open the brackets using gerund: 

Nota Bene:  

to deserve 

to want 

to need 

to require 

to be worth 

 

 

+ 

 

 

active gerund 

 

1. The sink needs (to clean). 2. She is absolutely adequate in (to say) that she 

does not want to enter the university. 3. She expressed regret for (to be) rude to her 

brother. 4. She confessed (to forget) to return the debt. 5. The child could not stand 

(to tell) what he should do and where he should go. 6. She had no talent for (to paint), 

that’s why buying brushes, oils and canvases was useless. 7. Florence is worth (to 

visit). 8. After (to examine) the patient, the medical worker revealed the name of the 

disease. 9. After (to examine) by the nurse, the patient was sent to hospital. 10. She 

accused her neighbors of (to steal) the car. 11. His father reproached him for (not to 

visit) them lately. 12. This book is not worth (to purchase). 13. After (to check) the 

students' papers, the teacher announced the marks. 14. After (to check), the tests 
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were handed back to the pupils. 15. These jackets want (to fix). 16. I was very happy 

of (to find) my uncle. 17. Excuse the pet for (to break) your favorite figurine. 18. He 

has never mentioned (to be) married long ago. 19. The family was proud of her 

daughter (to award) the first prize. 20. My father does not remember ever (to meet) 

that old man. 21. The baby was praised for (to drink) the milk.  

Ex. 13. Open the brackets using gerund: 

1. My friends were busy (to discuss) the latest news when one of them 

remembered (to leave) the door of the car unlocked. 2. My brother couldn't bear (to 

revise) his lessons, because he couldn't help (to forget) something, though he did his 

best in order to avoid (to make) mistakes. 3. My beloved and I landed in Rome on 

an autumn evening. We had purposely not informed our relatives in Italy of our (to 

arrive), that we wanted to have the pleasure of (to surprise) them. 4. The student was 

proud of (to choose) to represent the University at the coming English academic 

competition.  

Ex. 14. Translate into Ukrainian, paying attention to the nouns and pronouns 

before the gerund. 

1. The parents were surprised at her children having tidied up the whole house 

so well. 2. Her trying to make me reveal the secret is of no use. 3. When asked why 

they had missed the classes, they said something about UFO. 4. He came up without 

her seeing him and scared her a little. 5. They stayed in the countryside the whole 

season because of their son being unwell. 6. We had no idea of your leaving our 

house so soon. 7. My husband’s arriving here provides me with a great deal of 

happiness. 8. The professor did not object to the student getting ready with the 

project one week later. 9. She said that she did not know anything about the diamond 

ring having been left on the dressing table unattended. 

Ex. 15. Use gerund instead of the subordinate clauses; mind the prepositions 

in the brackets. 
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1. When I entered the study, I saw the cat sitting on the laptop, (on) 2. Thank 

you that you helped me to make a decision, (for) 3. Her husband insisted that she 

should buy a new dress and shoes for that occasion, (on). 4. We did not have any 

idea that the high-level talks could be postponed, (of) 5. There was no hope that I 

could leave for Venice on the same day. (of) 6. The idea that he had been ignored by 

the girl, he loved, made him feel awful, (of) 7. The long-legged blue-eyed lady 

insisted that she could be a super-star, (on) 8. Alice suggested that they should 

redecorate the walls of the study. 9. There was no chance that my neighbor would 

leave my boyfriend’s arriving unattended, (of) 10. I don't mind if you give me a piece 

of advice. 

Ex. 16. Translate into English using gerund: 

1. Ніхто не бачив, як наші родичі приїхали. 2. Мати наполягала на тому, 

що її син має знати три іноземні мови. 3. Маєток і сад виглядали настільки 

мальовничо, що лише думка, про те, що він там житиме зі своєю родиною, 

приводила його у захват. 4. Коли він увійшов до зали, то побачив, що вона 

стояла біля вікна і плакала; через кілька хвилин вона вийшла з кімнати, так і 

не звернувшись до нього. 5. Склавши іспити, Еліс почувала себе 

найщасливішою дівчиною на світі. 6. Вони переймалися, що можуть втратити 

зв'язок у горах. 7. Коли він дістався до місця, він подзвонив додому і 

повідомив, що прибув вчасно. 8. Дякую, що ви підтримали мене вчора. 9. 

Новий підручник може бути рекомендований лише після того, як його 

затвердить вчена рада. 10. Ви ніколи не запам'ятаєте нові лексеми, якщо не 

приділите досить уваги їхньому вивченню. 11. Коли директор увійшов до 

кімнати, він з цікавістю почав оглядати присутніх. 12. Пацієнт почував себе 

набагато краще після належного лікування. 13. Перед тим, як я вийшов із класу, 

я підійшов до викладача. 14. Подивившись на чоловіка уважно, вона згадала, 

що вже бачила його неодноразово в кав’ярні через дорогу від свого будинку. 

Ex. 17. Use gerund instead of the subordinate clauses; mind the prepositions. 
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1. I was informed that you were very shocked.  

2. Do you mind if I read aloud?  

3. Will you object if I turn on the light?  

4. Thank you that you gave us a lift. 

5. My lecturer insists that I should study all new words.  

6. Will Alice have anything against it if I use her laptop for some time?  

7. She remembers that she has seen him recently.  

8. The fact that you do not like the idea does not mean that I must refuse it 

either.  

9. The fact that I had taken Japanese lessons some time before helped me in 

my trip to Japan.  

Ex. 18. Translate into English using gerund: 

A. 1. Я наполягала на тому, щоб переїхати жити до Лондона наступного 

року. 2. Він заперечував, що працював перекладачем і знав китайську. 3. Вона 

боялася, що її вимову не зрозуміють. 4. Не зможу схвалити те, що ви вирішили 

продати фамільний маєток. 5. Вона думала про те, що вона зовсім не має 

вільного часу. 6. Вона звинувачує його в тому, що він не цікавиться її життям. 

7. Будь ласка, продовжуйте грати на піаніно! 8. Маленька дитина не давала їй 

зосередитись на навчанні. 9. Ви не проти, якщо я сьогодні не піду на вечірку з 

вами, а залишуся дома? 10. Продовжуйте жартувати! 11. Батько проти моїх 

стосунків з цим хлопцем. 12. Не можу не радіти, коли бачу ваші успіхи у 

навчанні.  

B. 1. Вони передумали розлучатися. 2. Вона боялася, що не зможе знайти 

нових друзів закордоном. 3. Припиніть говорити і продовжуйте виконувати 

вправу. 4. Він не заперечував, що саме він надав їй гроші на покупку нового 

авто. 5. Я схвалюю ваше прагнення вивчати японську мову. 6. Ви не 

заперечуєте, якщо піду додому, бо я дуже втомився? 7. Я не можу не думати 

про майбутнє. 8. Вона не заперечувала того, що зовсім не бажає приїздити до 

нас у гості. 9. Продовжуйте грати; ми насолоджуємося вашою грою. 10. Я 
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наполягаю на тому, щоб викликати таксі. 11. Мама проти того, щоб я подавала 

документи до коледжу сценічного мистецтва. 12. Вона звинувачує мене в тому, 

що я не поцікавився її станом.  

C. 1. Не можу не думати про тебе весь час. 2. Я наполягаю на тому, щоб 

переїхати жити до Італії наступного року. 3. Батько проти того, щоб я 

поверталася додому пізно. 4. Вона скаржилася на поганий зір. 5. Ви не 

заперечуєте, якщо я куритиму, не виходячи з кімнати? 6. Вона схвалювала те, 

що я допомагав бабусі та дідусеві. 7. Я думаю про те, щоб виїхати в Австрію 

на 2-3 місяця. 8. Він перестав ходити пішки, бо купив авто. 9. Він боявся, що 

його досягнення у науці ніхто не відмітить. 10. Продовжуйте пити чай, не 

звертайте на мене уваги. 11. Він вважає, що його терпіти не можуть. 12. Дощ 

заважав нам кататися на велосипедах. 

Ex. 19. Translate into English using gerund: 

A. 1. Вона розплакалася, згадуючи минулу ситуацію. 2. Не можу не 

милуватися вами. 3. Батьки заперечують проти того, що я не бажаю вивчати 

китайську. 4. Я схвалюю вашу наполегливість і цілеспрямованість. 5. Вона 

заперечувала, що зверталася по допомогу до юриста. 6. Припиніть так погано 

ставитися до нових сусідів . 7. Я боюся бути зрозумілим неправильно. 8. Вона 

заперечує, що вона лікар. 9. Я наполягаю на тому, щоб мені дали спокій. 10. 

Він звинувачує мене в тому, що я не люблю його. 11. Ви не заперечуєте, якщо 

я відійду на хвилинку? 12. Продовжуйте займатися своєю улюбленою справою 

і зможете досягти успіхів.  

B. 1. Він думав про те, щоб купити невелику ділянку землі і зайнятися 

садівництвом. 2. Він звинувачує мене, що я не запросила його на весілля. 3. Не 

можу не поцікавитися, де ви сховали документи та гроші? 4. Вона не заперечує 

того, що жила на селі в дитинстві. 5. Продовжуйте писати вірші та музику. 6. 

Я не наполягаю на тому, щоб посвячувати їх у справи нашої компанії. 7. Вони 

боялися запізнитись на літак і викликали таксі. 8. Я не схвалюю того, що ти 
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граєш у шахи на гроші. 9. Ми передумали заводити собаку. 10. Вона припинила 

професійно займатися балетом. 11. Бабуся хоче, щоб я ходила в кіно, а не в 

театр. 12. Ви не проти прогулятися зі мною сьогодні ввечері?  

C. 1. Перестань діяти мені на нерви. 2. Він заперечував, що саме він з'їв 

усі тістечка. 3. Він боявся втратити контроль і сказати усе у вічі. 4. Вона не 

схвалювала того, що він мав звичку їздити на такій швидкості. 5. Він думає, 

що ти таємно листуєшся з ним. 6. Я проти того, що ти так часто ходиш на 

вечірки без мене. 7. Вона звинувачує його в тому, що він і досі не відвідав її у 

лікарні. 8. Не можу не розповісти вам усю правду. 9. Вона була шокована, 

почувши цю новину. 10. Ви не заперечуєте, якщо я приїду не один? 11. Я 

наполягаю на тому, щоб звернутися до фахівця за консультацією. 12. 

Продовжуйте вивчати історію. 

Ex. 20. Translate into English using gerund: 

A. 1. Викладач не звинувачував студента в тому, що він не зміг відповісти 

на це складне запитання. 2. Не можу не спізнюватися на першу пару. 3. Ви не 

заперечуєте, якщо я зроблю свою доповідь останньою? 4. Не можу не схвалити 

те, що ви почали серйозно займатися наукою. 5. Він розкричався. 6. Він 

залишив звичку їздити машиною і тепер багато ходить пішки. 7. Дитина 

боялася зізнаватись у тому, що зламала іграшку. 8. Припиніть жартувати на цю 

тему. 9. Не звинувачуйте нас у тому, що ми не прийшли до вас на новосілля; 

ми були закордоном. 10. Я проти того, що ти часто п'єш міцну каву. 11. Я 

наполягаю на тому, щоб ти взявся за розум. 12. Продовжуйте говорити 

компліменти.  

B. 1. Моя бабуся ніколи не заперечувала проти того, що я щотижня 

ходила до театру. 2. Не можу не сказати вам «дякую». 3. Її звинуватили у тому, 

що вона недостатньо дбала про свою зовнішність. 4. Вона не схвалювала, що 

він мало займається іноземними мовами. 5. Він кинув бігати вранці і почав 

займатися фехтуванням. 6. Діти ніколи не боялися розповідати правду батькам. 
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7. Я наполягаю на тому, щоб ви дзвонили мені частіше. 8. Вона думає, що він 

порушив правило. 9. Ви не заперечуєте, якщо зніму пальто? 10. Голоси дітей, 

які лунали із сусідньої кімнати, не давали мені зосередитись на обчисленнях. 

11. Він не схвалює того, що ти так і не навчився бути чемним. 12. Продовжуйте 

заповнювати анкету. 
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COMPLEX OBJECT 
 

Subject + Predicate + Complex Object (Noun/Pronoun + Infinitive) 

 

The combination of a noun in the common case or a pronoun in the objective 

case and an infinitive used after the predicate forms a complex object. The relation 

between the noun (pronoun) and the infinitive is that of subject and predicate. 

• I saw the boy raise his hand.  

• I heard him call my name.  

• I want you to know that it is very important.  

 

The infinitive may be used as a part of a complex object after the following 

verbs:  

1. to hear, to see, to watch, to feel, to let, to make.  

After these verbs the infinitive has NO particle 'to'. 

 

• I heard him describe his new project.  

• He makes his children study English.  

• I saw him paint the fence.  

 

2. to want, to expect, to know, to suppose, to consider, to believe.  

After these verbs the particle 'to' is used before the infinitive. 

• He wanted me to help him.  

• I consider Tom to be a good specialist.  

• I expected him to paint the cupboard dark red.  

 

COMPLEX SUBJECT  

 
 

 

He 

 

 

is said 

to write articles. 

to be writing an article now. 

to have written two articles. 
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The article 

 

 

is said 

to have been writing an article for 2 years. 

 

to have been written. 

to be written every month. 

 

 

1.   

 

 

 

 

Subject 

is / are (was / were) announced  

is / are (was / were) reported  

is / are (was / were) expected  

is / are (was / were) said  

is / are (was / were) heard  

is / are (was / were) seen 

is / are (was / were) known  

is / are (was / were) believed  

is / are (was / were) considered  

is / are (was / were) supposed 

 

 

 

 

to + infinitive 

 

• He is said to go to London. 

• Alice was expected to arrive soon. 

• The delegation was reported to have arrived on Monday. 

 

2.  

 

 

 

Subject 

AN APPROPRIATE FORM  

OF THE FOLLOWING VERBS: 

 

to prove  

to appear  

to seem  

to happen  

to turn off   

 

 

 

to + infinitive 
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• She seems to be very happy. 

• We happened to meet them in Italy. 

 

3.  

 

 

Subject 

is / are (was / were) likely 

is / are (was / were) unlikely 

is / are (was / were) not likely 

is / are (was / were) certain 

is / are (was / were) sure 

 

 

to + infinitive 

 

• He is likely to arrive in Milan.  

• We are certain to meet in Rome. 

 

 

Ex. 1. Change the complex sentences into simple ones using complex objects.  

Model:  A: I think that the chair is very cozy.  

B: I think the chair to be very cozy. 

1. I think that an air conditioner is a very important convenience.  

2. I think that our neighbors are highly intelligent. 

3. I saw that she watered the kitchen garden. 

4. I did not expect that the Greens would buy that mansion.  

5. I watched how he danced with his girlfriend.  

6. She heard that the phone rang.  

7. I saw that she came late.  

8. She said that she had taken the money to buy clothes.  

9. She wants that these roses will be planted.  

10.  He wants that his bike will have been returned by Sunday.  

Ex. 2. Read the extract from the poem; point out complex objects. 
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The Wind 

I saw you toss the kites on high 

And blow the birds about the sky. 

And all round I heard you pass 

Like ladies’ skirts across the grass. 

Oh, wind, a-blowing all day long, 

Oh, wind, that sings so loud a song! 

I saw the different things you did. 

But always you yourself you hid. 

I felt you push, I heard you call, 

I could not see yourself at all. 

O wind, a-blowing all day long! 

O wind, that sings so loud a song ! 

(by R. L. Stevenson) 

 

Ex. 3. Point out the Complex Object with the Infinitive and translate the 

sentences into Ukrainian. 

1. One can expect the yoga to be spread rapidly.  

2. Most people consider the amount of effect in yoga to be somehow 

correlated with the correct practice.  

3. We can watch more and more people take up yoga.  

4. The present-day life style forces most people to start practicing yoga.  

5. An efficient CEO always knows how to get his people to do their work 

efficiently.  

6. People will naturally think such political decisions to be disastrous for the 

future of mankind.  

7. My major concern is to make the reader be interested in the book.  
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8. We may think the results to be precise. 

9. The scientist doesn’t claim his outcome to be of high importance.  

10. He believed the results of the work to have been represented as a diagram.  

11. We do expect this complicated situation to be solved soon. 

  Ex. 4. Translate into English. 

1. Я хочу, щоб усі діти завжди були слухняними. 2. Я хочу, щоб усі 

студенти підготували доповідь до наступної пари. 3. Мені хотілося б, щоб лікар 

оглянув мого брата. 4. Діти хотіли, щоб я розповіла їм казку. 5. Я не хочу, щоб 

хтось знав його минуле. 6. Він хотів, щоб його подруга склала йому компанію. 

7. Мій брат хоче, щоб його донька вивчала іноземні мови. 8. Я хотіла б, щоб 

мої студенти чудово знали іноземні мови. 9. Я не хочу, щоб ти отримав двійку 

з політології. 10. Мені не хотілося б, щоб вони запізнилися на мій виступ. 11. 

Я не хочу, щоб ви ставили дітям подібні запитання. 12. Вона хотіла б, щоб у її 

дім відремонтували. 13. Я хочу, щоб ви читали погані новини. 14. Мені 

хотілося б, щоб ви приїхали в мій новий заміський будинок у вересні. 15. Вона 

хотіла, щоб її син добре закінчив університет. 16. Їм хотілося б, щоб ми 

виграли. 17. Він не хотів, щоб я переїхала жити до Рима. 18. Я не хотів би, щоб 

Ви втратили його номер телефону. 19. Мати хоче, щоб він був перекладачем. 

20. Ми хочемо, щоб цей театр приїхав до нас у місто. 21. Вам хотілося б, щоб 

я відповіла на ваше запитання? 22. Бажаєте, я дам Вам свій ноутбук? 

Ex. 5. Translate the following sentences into English. 

1. Багато науковців очікують, що у квантовій фізиці відбудуться нові 

відкриття найближчим часом. 2. Ми не змогли змусити її повернутися вчасно. 

3. Наш директор хоче, щоб ми переїхали у нову будівлю. 4. Я чекаю, що мій 

друг зрозуміє, що він накоїв. 5. Я хочу, щоб ця інформація була перевірена 

сьогодні. 6. Колеги вважають, що успіх залежить від ретельної підготовки. 7. 

Я вважаю, що при рецензуванні роботи необхідно враховувати багато факторів. 
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8. У середні віки люди вважали, що сонце обертається навколо землі. 9. Чи 

чули ви, як він чудово володіє японською? 10. Ми відчуваємо, що швидкий 

розвиток науки вирішить багато питань. 

Ex. 6. Translate the following sentences into English. 

1. Вона знала, що Містер Грін справжній професіонал. 2. Усі знали, що 

вона кваліфікована перекладачка. 3. Я знаю, що твій брат чудово водить авто. 

4. Усі знають, що Майкл Джексон  – відомий виконавець. 5. Я не сподівався, 

що зустріч з тобою відбудеться так скоро. 6. Ми розраховуємо, що ви за нас 

проголосуєте. 7. Він сподівався, що міністр приїде вчасно. 8. Ми 

розраховували, що злива припиниться. 9. Я розраховую, що квіти принесуть 

вчасно. 10. Він сподівався, що професор не запитає його. 11. Вона не 

розраховувала, що він не поверне їй гроші. 12. Я знаю, що вона талановита 

виконавиця. 13. Вона знала, що він прекрасний і надійний чоловік. 14. Ми не 

розраховували, що ви так багато зробите для нашої родини. 15. Професор 

сподівався, що студенти зрозуміють нову тему. 16. Я не очікував, що вона 

намалює таку прекрасну картину. 

Ex. 7. Translate the following sentences into English. 

1. Я терпіти не можу, коли ти забуваєш зачинити двері. 2. Бабуся дуже 

любить, коли збирається вся родина. 3. Батьки люблять, коли я говорю з ними 

англійською та іспанською. 4. Мій друг не любив, коли я запізнювалась. 5. Він 

терпіти не міг, коли ми брали його авто. 6. Він любив, коли ми вечорами сиділи 

на березі моря і насолоджувалися розмовою. 7. Я люблю, коли ви у гарному 

настрої. 8. Вона не любить, коли я їй часто дзвоню. 9. Вона не любила, щоб ми 

вечеряли пізно. 10. Він ненавидить, коли студенти спізнюються на пари. 11. 

Професор любить, коли аспіранти ставлять запитання. 

Ex. 8. Translate the following sentences into English. 

1. Будь ласка, не змушуйте мене говорити вам усе прилюдно. 2. Вона не 

могла умовити його розповісти таємницю. 3. Мама змусила дитину вивчити усі 
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нові слова. 4. Викладач змусив студента прийти на перескладання. 5. Вона 

змусила дитину випити гаряче молоко з медом. 6. Він змусив дружину 

розповісти, що сталося з його авто. 7. Сильний вітер змусив нас тепло 

вдягнутися. 8. Примусьте її одягнути цю сукню: вона сидить на ній найкраще. 

9. Чому ви не змусили мене купити ці окуляри вчора? 10. Я не можу навчити 

собаку не гавкати на котів. 11. Коли ти примусиш свого чоловіка кинути 

палити? 

  Ex. 9. Translate the following sentences into English. 

1. Я чув, як вона співала відому пісню. 2. Я чула, як він увійшов до 

кімнати. 3. Я відчула, як він торкнувся моєї руки. 4. Я відчувала, що він думає 

про мене добре. 5. Я бачив, як сусіди виїжджають із будинка. 6. Я побачив, як 

сусіди виїхали із будинка. 7. Ми побачили, що вона грає у теніс. 8. Ми бачили, 

як вона вийшла з офісу з букетом троянд. 9. Я не помітила, як вони покинули 

вечірку. 10. Я бачила, як він дістав документи з портмоне. 11. Ми бачили, як 

вона під'їхала до кінотеатру, залишила машину і попрямувала до входу. 12. Ми 

спостерігали, як він розмовляв зі своїми дітьми. 13. Я почула, що хтось голосно 

кличе мене. 14. Ми бачили, як вони купували квіти, цукерки і подарунки. 15. 

Я почула, як чоловік покликав мене зі свого кабінету. 16. Вона відчула, що їй 

стає погано. 17. Ми чули, як наші друзі обговорювали можливості подорожі до 

Франції. 18. Я помітила, що дівчина дуже схудла. 19. Я бачив, що мій дідусь 

сидів біля каміна і курив сигару. 20. Мати з хвилюванням спостерігала, як її 

маленький син вчиться ходити. 21. Дочка спостерігала, як мама готувала 

вечерю. 22. Ми побачили, що вони гарно ставляться один до одного. 23. Ми 

чули, як він привітав сусідів. 24. Вона відчула, що наближається гроза. 25 Я 

ніколи не чула, як він грає на гітарі. 28 Ми почули, як вони заговорили 

незнайомою мовою. 

Ex. 10. Paraphrase the sentences using Complex subject: 

1. Someone has told me that Alice has won the competition. 
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 Alice ____________________________________________________________ 

2. It is thought that there is water on the Mars.   

  Water____________________________________________________________ 

3. Many people think that Leonardo Da Vinci painted more paintings than we know 

of.  

   Leonardo Da Vinci_________________________________________________ 

4. Everybody knows that our CEO had prompted Alice what shares to buy.  

   Alice__________________________________________________________  

5. People think that crises are a regular state of economics.  

   Crises ___________________________________________________________ 

6. It is said that Tom used to be a talented translator.  

   Tom ____________________________________________________________ 

7. Some people suppose that this Florence is the most beautiful Italian city.  

   Florence_________________________________________________________  

8. They thought that Mr. Green was the interpreter who had translated the President.  

  Mr. Green_________________________________________________________ 

9. Many people believe that Mahatma Gandhi is the best Indian politician.  

   Mahatma Gandhi ________________________________________________ 

10. We believe that diplomacy is one of the most important spheres nowadays.  

    Diplomacy ______________________________________________________ 

Ex. 11. Translate into English: 

1. Бачили, як я танцював зі своєю дівчиною. 2. Її попросили написати 

правило. 3. Думали, що вона його наречена. 4. Розраховували, що вона 
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вирішить свої проблеми самостійно. 5. Припускали, що вона вже повернулася 

з Австрії. 6. Звичайно, вона зараз живе у Цюріху. 7. Звісно, вона вже розповила 

цю новину. 8. Навряд чи вона має дітей. 9. Навряд чи вона приїздила додому 

влітку. 10. Звісно, документи вже підписані. 11. Звісно, вона вже підписала 

документ. 12. Здається, вона добре керує авто. 13. Здавалося, що вона знається 

на цієї темі. 14. Виявилося, що вона це вона допомагала організувати приїзд 

делегації.  

 Ex. 12. Translate into English: 

1. Кажуть, що цей замок було збудовано у 18 столітті. 2. Припускають, 

що делегація приїде о десятій годині. 3. Не чекали, що зима почнеться рано. 4. 

Виявилося, що ми вже бачили цей фільм. 5. Ви, здається, щось сказали. 6. 

Статті виявилися легшими для перекладу, ніж передбачалося. 7. Ви випадково 

не знаєте автора цієї статті? 8. Букет, який ви мені подарували, виявився 

найгарнішим. 9. Нові меблі виявилися дуже зручними. 10. Виявилося, що він 

уже давно таємно закоханий у неї. 11. Як відомо, вона жила протягом кількох 

років на Сицилії та вивчала там право. Вважають, що це вплинуло на її кар’єру. 

12. Ваш чоловік, здається, дуже цікавиться раритетними авто. 13. Відомо, що 

наш сусід – відомий хірург. 14. Вважають, що ця фреска була написана 

Мікеланджело в 16 столітті. 15. Повідомляють, що група науковців прибула на 

міжнародну конференцію. 

 Ex. 13. Translate into English: 

1. Я випадково вимкнув світло, вибачте. 2. Він виявився порядною 

людиною. 3. Він, здається, працює хірургом вже 20 років. 4. Я випадково 

зустріла своїх приятелів у центрі Лісабону. 5. Вважають, що вони секретні 

агенти. 6. Том виявився інтелектуалом. 7. Мій брат випадково зустрів цю 

дівчину дорогою до Неаполя. 8. Кажуть, що вона успадкувала велику колекцію 

старовинних картин. 9. Кажуть, що ця книга перекладена майже всіма мовами 

світу. 10. Ви, здається, довго вивчали іноземні мови перед тим, як вступили до 
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нашого університету. 11. Очікують, що ми зможемо зрозуміти цю тему. 12. 

Вона, здавалося, готувалася до весілля цілий рік. 13. Він, здавалося, все 

зрозумів, коли її побачив. 14. Вона, здається, думає, що він не закоханий в неї. 

15. Її розповідь, здається, досить переконлива.  
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PARTICIPLE 

• Let sleeping dogs lie.  

• A growing youth has a wolf in his belly.  

• The tongue ever turns to the aching tooth.  

• No living man all things can.  

• A burnt child dreads the fire.  

• Coming events cast their shadows before.  

• The beaten road is the safest.  

• A watched pot never boils.  

• Better untaught than ill taught.  

• Fear the Greeks bearing gifts.  

• Stolen sweets are sweetest.  

• Forbidden fruit is sweetest.  

• A forced kindness deserves no thanks.  

• Rats desert a sinking ship.  

• Forewarned is forearmed.  

• A rolling stone gathers no moss.  

• The rotten apple injures its neighbors.  

• A drawing man will clutch at a straw.  

• A man without a smiling face must not open a shop.  

• Barking dogs seldom bite.  

 

 Active Passive 

Indefinite 

Perfect 

asking 

having asked 

being asked 

having been asked 

 

Participle clauses enable us to say information in a more economical way. 

They are formed using present participles (going, reading, seeing, walking, etc.), 
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past participles (gone, read, seen, walked, etc.) or perfect participles (having gone, 

having read, having seen, having walked, etc.).  

We can use participle clauses when the participle and the verb in the main 

clause have the same subject. For example:  

Waiting for Alice, I made some coffee. (While I was waiting for Alice, I made 

some coffee.)  

Participle clauses do not have a specific tense. The tense is indicated by the 

verb in the main clause. Participle clauses are mainly used in written texts, 

particularly in a literary, academic or journalistic style.  

Present participle clauses  

Here are some common ways we use present participle clauses. Note that 

present participles have a similar meaning to active verbs.  

• To give the result of an action: 

The bomb detonated, destroying the houses.  

• To give the reason for an action:  

Knowing she loved painting; Tom bought her a set of paints.  

• To talk about an action that happened at the same time as another action:  

Standing in the queue, I realized I had left my money at home.  

• To add information about the subject of the main clause: 

Beginning in the new year, the new ban does not permit cars in the city center.  

Past participle clauses  

Here are some common ways that we use past participle clauses. Note that 

past participles normally have a passive meaning.  

• With a similar meaning to an if condition: 

Used in this way, participles can make your speech more precise. (If you use 

participles in this way, …)  
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• To give the reason for an action: 

Worried by the latest news, she called her relatives.  

• To add information about the subject of the main clause: 

Filled with love, he walked towards her.  

Perfect participle clauses 

Perfect participle clauses show that the action they describe was finished 

before the action in the main clause. Perfect participles can be structured to make an 

active or passive meaning.  

Having got examined, he slowly went out of the classroom.  

Having finished their studying, they will be fully qualified professionals.  

Having been made redundant, she decided to have a rest.  

Participle clauses after conjunctions and prepositions 

It is also common for participle clauses, especially with -ing, to follow 

conjunctions and prepositions such as before, after, instead of, on, since, when, while 

and in spite of.  

Before cooking, you should wash the vegetables.  

Instead of complaining about it, they should try improving themselves.  

On arriving at work, he went to change his clothes.  

While unpacking her bags, she thought about the last three years.  

In spite of having read the guide book twice, I still couldn’t understand where to 

go.  

 

Ex. 1. Fill in the gaps in the following sentences with the verbs from the box. 

You may have to change the form of the word:  



 

64 

 

break   steal   publish   surprise   forget   approach   surround   twinkle   write   smile  

1. He found a broken cup on the table.  

2. She entered the classroom ______________________.  

3. We came up to the bushes __________________the yard.  

4. Alice felt ______________________________________.  

5. They tried to sell us the _______________ car.  

6. I observed the _________________________yacht.  

7. My little son likes to watch the stars _________in the sky.  

8. We noticed his ___________________________ look.  

9. I couldn’t read the text _________ in red pen.  

10. We discussed the article _________two years ago.  

Ex. 2. Translate into Ukrainian paying attention to participles:  

1. We looked at the children speaking English fluently. 2. The sophisticated 

old lady sitting at the burning fire-place is my great-grandmother. 3. The handsome 

man playing chess is my husband. 4. Entering the bedroom, she turned off the music 

and closed the window. 5. Coming to the cinema, she saw that the movie had already 

begun. 6. Looking out of the window, he saw his father fixing his bike. 7. On hearing 

that strange noise, we startled and stopped talking. 8. He went into the flat, locking 

the door and switching on the light in the hall. 9. Working out on his new project, he 

was listening to a newly released album. 10. Running into the road, the young lady 

stopped a car. 11. Looking through the Instagram feed, I noticed a photograph of my 

boss. 12. Using a lot of chemicals, the fire brigade put out the fire in the sky-scraper.  

Ex. 3. Paraphrase the sentences, use participles:  

1. All the boys and girls who study in this building are students. 2. The lady 

who is looking in the window now is our best shop assistant. 3. That strange device 
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that stands in the corner of our lab is the latest project of our company. 4. The man 

who is driving that car now, is my neighbor. 5. Everybody who takes books from the 

library must give them back in time. 6. There are many students in our group who 

take part in all kinds of extracurricular activities.  

Ex. 4. Paraphrase the sentences, use participles:  

1. As he felt better, the man decided to go for a walk. 2. Since she knew who 

the woman was, Alice was very happy to have the chance of communicating with 

her. 3. As he thought that it was his girlfriend behind the door, Tom decided not to 

open it. 4. As the firemen were afraid of falling down the stairs in the complete 

darkness at any moment and hurting themselves, they were feeling their way very 

consciously. 5. Since they needed a shelter for a couple of nights, they decided to go 

to the highway motel.  

Ex. 5. Paraphrase the sentences, use participles:  

1. You ought to have much oral practice when you are learning to speak any 

foreign language. 2. When you speak English, pay close attention to the word order. 

3. When you are reading English texts, pay precise attention to the articles. 4. When 

you begin to work with the dictionary, don't forget my instructions as to the 

transcription. 5. Be careful when you are talking to strangers. 6. When you are 

leaving the room, don't forget to switch off the light. 7. When they were travelling 

around Central Africa, the explorers met many wild animals.  

Ex. 6. Translate into Ukrainian paying attention to past participles:  

1. She put a huge plate of fried fish and other sea food in front of me. 2. The 

fur coat bought last winter is too small for her now. 3. Nobody saw the jewelry kept 

in that secret box. 4. My sister likes boiled and steamed vegetables. 5. We stopped 

in front of the locked door. 6. Tied to the gate, the horse could not run away. 7. They 

saw overturned furniture and broken cups and plates all over the room. 8. This is an 

ancient church built a couple of centuries ago. 9. The books written by W. Blake 

were pleasant to read.  
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Ex. 7. Translate into Ukrainian paying attention to participles:  

1.  a) The box sent from Edinburgh today will be in Dublin tomorrow. b) He 

saw some people in the post office sending parcels to their relatives. c) When sending 

the parcel, she forgot to write her surname.  

2.  a) Some of the questions put to the professor yesterday were of high 

importance. b) The girl making coffee is our new secretary. c) While putting the cups 

into the cupboard, she broke one of them.  

3.  a) Any fish taken out of the water cannot live long. b) A person taking up 

a new kind of sports must be very careful. c) Opening the dictionary, he began to 

translate the sentences.  

4.  a) A line seen through this magic crystal looks double. b) A teacher seeing 

mistakes in a pupil’s task always corrects them. c) Seeing clouds of smoke over the 

skyscraper, the woman cried: "Fire! Fire!"  

5.  a) The quote cited by the professor was of a deep meaning. b) The 

handsome man standing at the door of the carriage and saying goodbye to those 

people is an outstanding artist. c) Standing at the open window, she was waving her 

hand to her friends.  

6.  a) A piece of advice given in time may have very important consequences. 

b) The students speaking good Spanish should be sent to Spain. c) The toy racing 

car interested the baby very much. d) While speaking to Alice some days ago, I 

forgot to ask her about her new project.  

Ex. 8. Choose the appropriate form of the participle:  

1.  a) We listened to the musicians (playing, played) the piano. b) We listened 

to the composition (playing, played) by the musicians.  
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2.  a) The girl (watering, watered) the flowers is my cousin. b) The flowers 

(watering, watered) by me grow very fast.  

3.  a) Who is that boy (making, made) a fire? b) The fire (making, made) by 

the children was extinguished by their parents.  

4.  a) The mansion (surrounding, surrounded) by green bushes is marvelous. 

b) The bushes (surrounding, surrounded) the mansion were green.  

5.  a) The girl (writing, written) on the blackboard is our headmaster’s 

daughter. b) Everything (writing, written) here will be included into the exam paper.  

6. Read the (translating, translated) poem.  

7. Name touristic places (visiting, visited) by you last winter.  

8. I picked up the glasses (lying, lain) on the carpet.  

9. She was reading the book (buying, bought) in Charing Cross Road.  

  Ex. 9. Translate into Ukrainian paying attention to participles:  

1. Being very ill, she could not go to work. 2. The first rays of the rising sun 

lit up the roof of the cottage. 3. The tower struck by lightning was all black. 4. Being 

busy, he postponed his appointment. 5. The door locked from inside could hardly be 

opened. 6. Having been shown the opposite direction, the travelers got lost 

immediately. 7. The room facing the rose bushes is much more pleasant than this 

one. 8. Having descended the hill, they heard a group of people singing a song. 9. 

Flushed and excited, the child ran outside. 10. He stood watching the cars going 

down the street. 11. The child lay dreaming when the doctors came in. 12. The 

exhausted person was examined by the doctor. 13. While being examined, the baby 

could not help crying. 14. Having prescribed the pills, the doctor returned to his 

office. 15. The coffee brewed by the barista was awful. 16. The dress bought at the 

department store impressed everybody. 17. While using a knife, you should be 

careful not to cut your finger. 18. While crossing the street, one should first look to 

the left and then to the right. 19. People listening to a concert are called an audience.  
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Ex. 10. Paraphrase the sentences, use participles:  

1. When he was running across the stadium, he fell down. 2. When I was 

having dinner yesterday, I kept thinking about the poor peoples of Africa. 3. He put 

on his jacket, went out, locked the door, opened his umbrella and went to the nearest 

Italian restaurant. 4. She closed the magazine, put it aside and looked at the pigeons 

coming for breadcrumbs. 5. As the book had been translated into English, it could 

be read by everybody. 6. As we were given enough time, we succeeded in translating 

the text qualitatively. 7. As soon as I have done my English homework, I will go to 

the cafe. 8. As soon as I have bought the laptop, I will begin using it.  

Ex. 11. Use participles:  

1. (to phone) the boss, he left (to say) he would never be back. 2. (to write) in 

very bad handwriting, the note was impossible to read. 3. (to publish) his first book, 

he could not help being nervous about the reaction of the readers. 4. (to spend) 

twenty years in the USA, he was extremely happy to be coming home. 5. (to be) so 

far away from home, he still felt himself part of the family. 6. She looked at the 

enormous bunch of chamomiles with an awkward smile, never before (to give) such 

a wonderful gift. 7. (not to wish) to discuss that hard and painful topic, he changed 

the ground. 8. (to translate) by a great professional, the novel kept all the sparkling 

humor of the original. 9. (to approve) by the editor, the young writer's story was 

accepted by a famous publishing house. 10. (to wait) for some time downstairs, he 

was invited into the library. 11. (to wait) in the dining room, he thought over the idea 

he was going to discuss with the boss. 12. They reached the city at last, (to walk) 

across the endless valley the whole day. 13. (to lie) down on the soft sofa, I fell 

asleep at once. 14. She went to the university, (to leave) the child with the nurse.  

Ex. 12. Paraphrase the sentences, use participles:  

1. When he had left the apartment and was crossing the street, he suddenly 

stopped as he remembered that he had forgotten to feed the dog. 2. He stared at me 
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and hesitated: he did not know how to behave in such a situation. 3. As she had long 

lived there and knew the district very well, she easily found her way to the market 

square. 4. He does not have any language problems, because he has been studying 

English since his childhood. 5. After I had translated this sentence, I began to doubt 

whether it was correct. 6. Take care when you cross the street. 7. Students should 

always be attentive and careful when they are listening to the lecturer. 8. There are 

many students who study arts. 9. Don't you feel exhausted after you have run so 

much? 10. When he arrived at the railway station, he bought a one-way ticket, 

walked to the platform, boarded the train and left forever. 11. As he was promised 

assistance, he felt happier. 12. After she was shown in, she was asked to take off her 

coat and wait for a while. 13. He poured out a glass of champagne, sat down in an 

armchair and looked at the fireplace in front of him.  

Ex. 13. Translate into English:  

1. Міста, що розташовані на узбережжі, часто є портами. 2. Поля, 

розділені живими огорожами, завжди виглядають дуже привабливо. 3. Місця, 

пов'язані з Шекспіром, знаходяться головним чином у Стратфорді-на-Ейвоні. 

4. Як ми називаємо людей, які живуть у Шотландії та розмовляють на 

шотландському діалекті? 5. Діти, схвильовані цирковою виставою, вирішили 

стати акробатами. 6. Чи є у Британії місцевості, вкриті лісами? 

Ex. 14. Translate into English:  

1. Птах, що сидить на дереві, горобець. 2. Огорожа, що розділяє наші 

сади, стара. Її треба зламати. 3. Захований лист знайшли діти. 4. Лист, 

написаний мною, щойно надіслано. 5. Зламані іграшки лежать у коробці. 6.  

Сплячого собаку звуть Рекс. 7. Особа, намальована на папері, схожа на тебе. 8. 

Чоловік, який сидить у кріслі, мій батько. 9. Хлопчики, що йдуть до школи, мої 

друзі. 10. Людина, відправлена тобою, щойно прийшла. 11. Захоплений 

краєвидом, я стояв на березі озера. 

Ex. 15. Translate into English:  
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1. Діти, що купаються в річці, живуть в тому будинку. 2.  Діти, що 

купалися в річці, голосно кричали. 3. Діти, що купалися в річці, тепер лежали 

на сонці. 4. Діти, що купалися в річці, були моїми учнями. 5. Діти, що купалися 

в річці, прийшли з далекого селища. 6. Дівчина, яка грає на роялі, моя сестра. 

7. Дівчина, що грала на роялі, була дуже гарна собою. 8. Дівчина, яка грала на 

роялі вийшла з кімнати. 9. Дівчина, яка зіграла вальс, тепер сама пішла 

танцювати. 10. Дівчина, яка грала на роялі, була нещодавно моєю студенткою. 

11. Дівчина, яка грала вчора на роялі, буде вступати до консерваторії. 12. 

Туристи, які оглядали фортецю, тихо перемовлялися. 13. Туристи, які оглянули 

фортецю, вже пішли. 14. Туристи, що розглядають фортецю, приїхали з Англії. 

15. Туристи, що оглянули фортецю, попрямували до автобуса. 16. Туристи, що 

розглядають фортецю, - англійці. 17. Чоловік, який читає газету, – мій 

приятель. 18. Людина, яка читала газету, здавалося, не помічала нічого 

навколо. 19. Чоловік, який читав газету, раптом засміявся. 20. Чоловік, який 

читав газету, мене не бачив. 21. Людина, яка читала газету, встала і пішла. 22. 

Людина, яка прочитала цю газету, ймовірно, захоче прочитати і наступний 

номер. 

Ex. 16. Paraphrase the sentences, use participles:  

1. As the high-level talks were finished, the delegation left the hall. 2. If the 

news is posted today, they will know about it tomorrow. 3. If the parents permit us, 

we will go to the night club. 4. When the working day was over, she went straight 

home. 5. As a storm was arising, the yacht entered the nearest harbor. 6. When the 

unpacking had been done, the girls cooked dinner. 7. As the stop was a long one, the 

passengers got off the train. 8. As the weather was perfect, Alice sunbathed every 

day. 9. As the last month was a very relaxing one, she missed her work so much. 10. 

If the weather permits, we will leave a few days later. 11. When the third bell had 

gone, the curtain slowly rose and the performance started. 12. As the underground 

station was not so far, we decided to walk there. 13. Alice could not sleep the whole 

night, as she had a terrible headache. 14. As the rules were very strict, the doorkeeper 
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did not permit Tom to enter. 15. As the front oak door was open, she could see 

straight through the large hall. 16. Alice had no desire to work on her farm, for it was 

to her mind the worst job all over the world. 17. They stood there; the morning wind 

was shaking the green whispering leaves. 18. As the situation was urgent, we had to 

act immediately. 19. When the greetings were over, he seated himself in a wicker 

chair in front of the burning fire-place. 20. The town of Crewe is known to be one 

of the busiest junctions in England: many railway lines pass through it. 21. We set 

off; it was still raining heavily. 22. After the dinner had been ordered, the guests 

started admiring the view over the harbor. 23. Lunch was served on the terrace, as it 

had the most impressive view. 24. Thoughtful child finished his lunch; his eyes were 

all the time fixed upon the smartphone. 25. There was in fact nothing to wait for, and 

they decided to go home. 26. The question was rather difficult to answer at once, 

and the student asked for permission to think it over. 27. She stood leaning against 

the wall; her arms were folded. 28. There was very little time left; we had to start. 

29.  After dinner she used to read aloud; her small son sat by her side. 30. The new 

wheels were safely delivered; all of them were in good order. 31. Our attempts to 

start the engine of the car had failed, and we spent the night in a nearby inn.  

Ex. 17. Translate into English:  

1. Оскільки залишалося ще півгодини до відходу поїзда, ми вирішили 

купити по морозиву. 2. Якщо погода буде сприятливою, підемо гуляти у лісі . 

3. Ми довго розмовляли: він запитував мене, а я відповідала. 4. Якщо умови 

дозволять, я приїду до вас на цілий рік. 5. Оскільки було дуже тепло, діти спали 

у садочку. 6. Коли всі приготування були закінчені, ми вирушили у похід. 7. 

Корабель повільно плив уздовж берегів Червоного моря; сотні птахів кружляли 

над ним. 8. Було дуже темно, на небі не було жодної зірочки, місяця також ен 

було видно. 9. Коли настав вечір і сонце сіло, туристи розвели багаття і сіли 

вечеряти. 10. Оскільки було вже пізно, виставка була закрита. 11. Якщо погода 

дозволить, ми підемо на річку засмагати. 12. Оскільки робота була завершена, 

вона вирішила відпочити та випити кави. 13. Оскільки вже було пізно й 
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дощило, ми вирішили повечеряти вдома. 14. Оскільки було прохолодно, Еліс 

сховала руки до кишень. 15. Оскільки швидко темніло, вона поспішила додому. 

16. Коли сонце зайшло, одразу стало темно. 17. Оскільки наша розмова була 

закінчена, я сів в авто і поїхав додому. 18. Коли тістечка були готові, вона 

пригостила дітей. 
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CONDITIONALS 

 

 

If I have enough money and 

time, 

 

conditional clause 

 

 

I will go to Japan. 

 

 

main clause 

 

 

I will go to Japan, 

 

 

main clause 

 

if I have enough money and 

time. 

 

conditional clause 

 

 

First, Second, and Third Conditionals 

 

1. First conditional: If I have enough money and time, I will go to Japan. 

2. Second conditional: If I had enough money and time, I would go to Japan. 

3. Third conditional: If I had had enough money and time, I would have 

gone to Japan. 

 

Conditional clause  Main clause 

1.  If + Present Tense    will + inf. / present tense / imperative 

2. If + Past Tense    would + inf. 

3.  If + Past Perfect Tense   would have + past participle 
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Uses of the Conditional 

1. First conditional 

a. Nature: Open condition, what is said in the condition is possible.  

b. Time: This condition refers either to present or to future time. 

e.g. If he is late, we will have to go without him. 

If my mother knows about this, we are in serious trouble. 

2. Second conditional 

a. Nature: semi-real improbable situations.  

b. Time: present; the TENSE is past, but we are talking about the present, now. 

e.g. If I knew her name, I would tell you. 

If I were you, I would tell my father. 

Compare: If I become president, I will change the social security system. (Said 

by a presidential candidate) 

If I became president, I would change the social security system. (Said by a 

schoolboy: improbable) 

If we win this match, we are qualified for the semifinals. 

If I won a million pounds, I would stop working. (improbable)  

3. Third conditional 

a. Nature: unreal  

b. Time: Past (so we are talking about a situation that was not so in the past.) 

e.g. If you had warned me, I would not have told your father about that party. 

(But you didn't).  

Remember! 

1. The conditional construction does not normally use will or would in if-clauses. 

EXCEPTION: If will or would express willingness, as in requests, they can 

be used in if-clauses.  
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e.g. If you will come this way, the manager will see you now. 

I would be grateful if you would give me a little help. 

(= ± please, come this way; please, give me...)  

2. For the second conditional, were replaces was:  

If I were a rich man...  

3. After if, we can either use "some (-one, -where...)" or "any (-one, -where...).  

If I have some spare time next weekend…  

If I have any spare time... 

4. Instead of if not, we can use unless.  

e.g. I'll be back tomorrow unless there is a plane strike. 

He'll accept the job unless the salary is too low. 

Mixed Conditional Patterns 

1. If Past, Present 

If I had won the lottery,  I would be rich.  

But I didn't win the lottery in the past and I am not rich now.  

If I had taken French in high school, I would have more job opportunities.  

But I didn't take French in high school and I don't have many job opportunities.  

If she had been born in the United States, she wouldn't need a visa to work here.  

But she wasn't born in the United States and she does need a visa now to work 

here.  

2. If Present, Past 

If I were rich, I would have bought that Ferrari we saw yesterday.  

But I am not currently rich and that is why I didn't buy the Ferrari yesterday.  
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If Sam spoke French, he would have translated the letter for you.  

But Sam doesn't speak French and that is why he didn't translate the letter.  

If I didn't have to work so much, I would have gone to the party last night.  

But I have to work a lot and that is why I didn't go to the party last night.  

Ex. 1. Open the brackets using the appropriate form of the verb. 

1. If she were not such an outstanding artist, she (not to have) so many fans. 

2. If you (to give) me your phone number, I will call you as soon as possible. 3. If 

she (not to be) so absent-minded, she would not lose her keys all the time. 4. If my 

brother does not go to London, we (to spend) the summer in Madrid. 5. If they (not 

to go) to Prague last year, they would not have visited that brilliant exhibition. 6. If 

you (not to get) tickets to the newly opened cinema, we will be very disappointed. 

7. If you were not so careless, you (to address) me and (to ask) for advice. 8. I should 

be happy if I (to have) such a trustworthy friend like you. 9. If it (to snow), we will 

go skiing. 10. If he (to be) hard-working, he would have learnt the rule. 11. If it is 

warm, I (not to put) on my jacket. 12. I (to translate) the text long ago, if she had not 

disturbed me. 13. If she (not to study) so much, she would not be so smart. 14. If my 

friend (not to be) at work, he will call us. 

Ex. 2. Open the brackets using the appropriate form of the verb. 

1. If you (not to bring) water, we will not cook soup. 2. If he has free time 

tomorrow, he certainly (to go) to the art gallery. 3. My sister would not have missed 

so many classes if she (not to hurt) her leg. 4. If my friend (to have) a car, we would 

meet every day. 5. If you spoke Japanese every day, you (to improve) your language 

skills. 6. If you get «excellent», your parents (to be) happy. 7. If he (to return) earlier, 

he would have been able to meet her. 8. If this scarf were of some dark color, I (to 

buy) it without hesitation. 9. If you (to give) up eating fried potatoes and pastries, 

you’ll lose weight. 10. If you (to be) a scientist, you would carry out that research. 

11. If she did not read a lot, she (not to know) foreign literature so well. 12. If he (to 

visit) us yesterday, he would have found out this information. 13. If he (not to pass) 
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his examinations, he will not enter the Oxford university. 14. If she (not to assist) 

me, I should have had troubles. 15. Your neighbor would have more free time if he 

(not to watch) TV so often. 16. If I were you, I (to give) her flowers every week. 

Ex. 3. Open the brackets using the appropriate form of the verb. 

1. If my brother (to have) problems, I always help him. 2. If I don't manage to 

finish it, I (to stay) at work late hours. 3. If she paid more attention to her diet, she 

(to be, to feel) prettier and healthier. 4. You would feel better if you (to stop) smoking 

and drinking so much black coffee. 5. If he (to learn) the rule, he would not have got 

‘unsatisfactory’. 6. If you gave me your laptop, I (to translate) this article. 7. If I (to 

be) a ballet dancer, I should be very happy. 8. If Alice (to get) up at half past seven, 

she would have been late for work. 9. If he had not put the glass on the edge of the 

table, it (not to get) broken. 10. I would be very pleased if he (to come) to see me. 

11. If he (to live) in Calcutta, I would visit him very often. 12. If you (to go) to the 

park with us yesterday, you would have liked the autumn nature. 13. You won't 

understand the concept if you (not to listen) to me attentively. 14. If she weren't such 

a bookworm, she (not to sit) in the library now. 15. He would not have bought the 

flat if he (not to work) so hard. 16. If he did not live in LA, we (not to see) each other 

so often. 17. If you had warned me, I (to finish) the task in time. 

Ex. 4. Open the brackets using the appropriate form of the verb. 

1. If I (to have) this rare figurine, I would obviously tell you. 2. The pie would 

have been much more delicious if she (to get to know) the recipe. 3. I never (to call) 

on you if you hadn't reminded me to do that. 4. Your friend (to become) much 

stronger if he went jogging regularly. 5. If he (to be) braver, he would not be afraid 

of difficulties. 6. If the pupil had been more patient, he (to listen) to me. 7. If you (to 

put) the champagne into the refrigerator, it would taste more delicious. 8. If I (to 

know) the truth now, I would help him. 9. If you had let me know yesterday, I (to 

vote) for him. 10. If it (to rain), the children will stay home. 11. If he (not to know) 

Latin, he would not be able to work as an interpreter. 12. I (not to cope) with it if 
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you did not support me. 13. If we (to have) no weapons, wars would not be possible. 

14. You will never complete the work if you (to spend) your time in vain. 15. If I (to 

have) your address, I would easily visit you at home. 

Ex. 5. Open the brackets using the appropriate form of the verb. 

1. If she reads 100 pages in English every day, her vocabulary (to be) great. 2. 

If they (to know) us before, we would have made friends. 3. If I (to get) this job, I 

will inform you. 4. If you really loved painting, you (to go) to exhibitions more often. 

5. If you had not wasted your time last year, you (to be) the boss now. 6. If you (not 

to miss) the train, you would have come in time. 7. You (not to miss) the prof’s 

lecture if you had got up in time. 8. You would have understood the professor’s 

explanation if you (to listen) attentively. 9. If you (to understand) the material, you 

would have written the test successfully. 10. If you had written the test successfully, 

you (not to get) a bad mark. 11. Your mother (not to be) upset if you had not got a 

bad mark. 12. If he (to call) me the day before yesterday, I would certainly have told 

him all about you. 13. If you (to tell) pleasant words to her every day, you would 

have won her heart. 14. If she is free, she (to agree) to have a cup of coffee with him.  

 Ex. 6. Translate into English. 

1. Вона купила б авто, якби знайшла відповідний варіант. 2. Вона була б 

у хорошому настрої, якби її не засмутили. 3. Вона б відповіла на питання, якби 

у неї був час. 4. Він би поїхав на відпочинок, якби у нього була відпустка. 5. На 

вашому місці я б промовчала. 6. Якби вона зустріла порядну людину, то, 

напевно, довірила б їй свою таємницю. 7. Вона не стала б про це говорити, 

якби її не попросили про це. 8. Якби автомобіль був на ходу, ми поїхали б 

кататися. 9. На твоєму місці я зраділа б таким квітам. 10. Якби він її запросив 

у кіно, вона б не відмовилася. 11. Якби вона мала більше вільного часу, вона б 

частіше зустрічалася з друзями. 12. Якби таке трапилося зі мною, я б 

засмутився. 13. Вона б зраділа, якби ця новина була правдою. 14. Якби ти 

звернувся до мене за допомогою, я б ніколи не змогла тобі відмовити. 15. Якби 
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він знав, що робити в такій ситуації, то не звертався б за консультацією. 16. 

Мені було б спокійніше, якби ти зустрів дітей зі школи. 17. Він би прилетів з 

Америки, якби вона попросила. 18. Якби вона не соромилася, подзвонила б 

сама. 19. Вона дочекалася б нас, якби не була така зайнята. 20. Якби вона мала 

більше досвіду, вона побачила б у цій людині злочинця. 21. Він би зміг 

закінчити ремонт вчасно, якби мав чіткий план. 22. Якби він прийшов до нас у 

гості вчора, все одно нікого б не було вдома. 23. Якби зі мною порадилися, все 

могло б бути інакше. 24. Якби я була дорослою, я б робила все, що забажаю. 

25. Якби я був письменником, я присвятив би вам книгу. 

 Ex. 7. Translate into English. 

1. Вона дасть нам журнал, якщо він поверне його. 2. Він завжди 

хвилюється, якщо в нього температура. 3. Вона грає на роялі, якщо має настрій. 

4. Де він працюватиме, якщо його звільнять? 5. Якщо вона взяла парасольку, 

дощу не буде. 6. Він не замерзне, якщо вдягне шапку. 7. Коли вона не знає 

слово, вона завжди дивиться його у словнику. 8. Якби він почав соромитися, то 

почав би червоніти. 9. Якщо вона прийде завтра, він їй все розповість. 10. Якщо 

він зайнятий, вона прийде завтра. 11. Якби вона відчула себе самотньою, то 

подзвонила б йому. 12. Вона б спитала, якби не зрозуміла. 13. Вона буде вдячна 

нам, якщо ми їй допоможемо. 14. Він буде радий, якщо вона подзвонить йому 

першою. 15. Він заїде за документами, якщо згадає. 16. Він завжди відвідує 

заняття, якщо добре почувається. 17. Ми поїхали б за місто, якби не було дощу. 

18. Він переглядає газету за сніданком, якщо він має настрій. 19. Якщо її не 

буде вдома, він буде сумувати. 20. Він би залишився ще на тиждень, якщо б не 

хвороба. 21. Ми можемо зробити вправу разом, якщо хочеш. 22. Якби він 

захотів відпочити, він би вирушив у кругосвітню подорож. 23. Вона 

повідомить, якщо він запізниться. 24. Він запізниться на літак, якщо поїде саме 

зараз. 25. Вона б виглядала гарно, якби виспалася. 

Ex. 8. Open the brackets using the appropriate form of the verb. 
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1. I am sorry that you do not watch such movies in English; if you (to watch) 

them, I (to recommend) you some very cognitive ones. 2. You say that you did not 

listen to yesterday's news; if you (to listen) to them, you (to hear) the announcement 

of Mr. Copperfield coming to our town. 3. The little boy is not happy: if he (to be) 

happy, he (not to cry) now. 4. He felt good last week: if he (to be) ill, he (not to take) 

part in the competition. 5. How beautiful it is! If there (not to be) so many roses, it 

(not to be) so nice. 6. I am happy I was able to attend the exhibition yesterday. You 

(to be) upset if I (not to arrive)? 7. Let's take a taxi to the airport: we have very much 

baggage. If we (not to have) so much baggage, we (to take) a bus. 8. Stop working 

and let's go home: it is too late. If it (not to be) so late, we (to go) on working. 9. If 

you (to be) really interested in our relationships, you (to offend) me last week. 

Ex. 9. Compose conditional sentences. 

1. Не is taking a shower and can’t answer the phone call. If ... 2. The children 

studied badly last year and received a lot of unsatisfactory marks. If ... 3. She lost 

her bag with documents and keys and so he did not go to the party. If ... 4. He speaks 

Chinese poorly: he has too little practice. If ... 5. She had a bad headache on Monday, 

that's why she didn’t go to work. If ... 6. The yacht was sailing near the coast, that's 

why we enjoyed diving off the yacht. If ... 7. He was not at work; he was at the 

concert. If ... 8. The road was so slippery that I fell and hurt my arm. If ... 9. The sea 

is stormy, we cannot sail today. If ... 10. They made a fire in the valley, and the 

frightened wild animals ran away. If ... 11. It is late, and it’s high time for you to go 

to bed. If ... 12. I was expecting my parents to arrive, that's why I could not stay at 

work any more. If ... 13. He always gets excellent marks in arts because it is his 

favorite subject and he works a lot at it. If ... 14. I could not translate the text 

yesterday because I didn’t have a dictionary. If ... 15. We lost our way in Rome 

because we didn’t have a map. If ... 16. The bag was so heavy, we could not carry it 

to our room, we asked the porter to help us. If ... 

 Ex. 10. Translate into English. 
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1. Якби не його поганий зір, він би побачив це оголошення і 

зателефонував. 2. Вона здорова. Якби вона погано почувалася, її брат сказав би 

мені про це вчора. 3. Ви знали б такі речі, якби регулярно відвідували заняття 

цього професора з мовознавства. 4. Якби я дізналася про це вчора, то не 

радилася б зараз з чоловіком. 5. Якби він успадкував багато грошей, він би вже 

давно відкрив власну справу в Сінгапурі. 6. Вона дуже талановита. Якщо вона 

почне вчитися грати на піаніно зараз, вона може стати визначним музикантом. 

7. Якби я знав англійську, я б вже давно влаштувався працювати в Google. 8. 

Якби я знав латину добре, я читав би старовинні тексти в оригіналі. 9. Якби я 

жила ближче до моря, я б частіше ходила засмагати. 10. Якби ви не відволікали 

нас учора, ми перевели б документ вчасно. 11. Якби він не дотримувався 

рекомендацій головного лікаря, він би не вилікувався так швидко. 12. Якби він 

не був талановитим скульптором, його роботу не прийняли б на виставку у 

Флоренції. 13. Якби ви тоді порадилися з медичним фахівцем, ви б зараз так 

не засмучувалися. 14. Якби я не була так зайнята в університеті, я б приділяла 

тобі більше часу і уваги. 

 Ex. 11. Translate into English. 

1. Навіть якби ми приїхали на годину раніше, ми все одно запізнилися б 

на літак. 2. Вона не пропустила б стільки занять, якби не захворіла. 3. Якби він 

добре почував себе позавчора, він би взяв участь у конференції. 4. Ми могли б 

поїхати з вами на пляж сьогодні, якщо б нашу машину відремонтували вчора. 

5. Я нічого не знаю про цього чоловіка. Навіть якби моя сестра була з ним 

знайома, вона б мені ніколи нічого не розповіла. 6. Навіть якби ви 

проінструктували його вчасно, він би не зміг зробити цю роботу краще за вас. 

7. Він би не попав в аварію, якби так не поспішав до неї. 8. Якби ти мені вчора 

нагадав про це, сьогодні я приїхала б вчасно, і мені не довелося б 

виправдовуватися у присутності директора. 9. Якби я не довіряла тобі, я не 

стала б дружити з тобою. 

 Ex. 12. Translate into English. 
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1. Якби він не був таким неуважним, він не залишив би документи в 

таксі. 2. Вона б не зламала ногу, якби не балакала по телефону, а дивилася б 

під ноги і йшла б обережніше. 3. Якби вона не вчила китайську з дитинства, 

вона б не говорила цією мовою так швидко. 4. Якби мій син не був такий 

впертий, він би тримався здорової дієти. 5. Якби ми його вчасно попередили, 

він був би зараз в університеті. 6. Якби я не розповів їй правду, я б зараз так не 

переживав. 7. Якби вона старанно ставилася до занять, вона краще володіла б 

предметом. 

 Ex. 13. Translate into English. 

1. У вас не боліла б так часто голова, якби ви менш сиділи за 

комп’ютером, а більше гуляли на свіжому повітрі. 2. Ми б, звичайно, пішли 

гуляти, якби не такий сильний дощ та вітер. 3. Я думаю, що якби я була на 

вашому місці, я б уникала конфліктів та суперечок з цього приводу. 4. Я б уже 

не зміг допомогти, навіть якби приїхав вчасно. 5. Якби ви повідомили нам 

заздалегідь, ми могли б вас зустріти на вокзалі. 6. Якщо мені хтось подзвонить, 

скажіть, що я тут більше не працюю! 7. Якби мені вдалося познайомитися з 

цим письменником, я вважав би, що мені дуже пощастило в житті. 8. Ви б 

відчули себе краще, якби послухали лікарів. 9. Якби я могла залишитися з 

тобою, я б не їхала зараз.  

Ex. 14. Translate into English. 

1. Якби наш інженер не припустився помилки позавчора, то завершив би 

проект сьогодні. 2. Якби ти зателефонував учора і сказав, що долетів, вона б 

зараз так не турбувалася. 3. Якби ти вчора не улетів до Штатів, вона б не 

почувалася такою самотньою сьогодні. 4. Якби вчора пройшов дощ, то сьогодні 

не було б так жарко. 5. Якби він вивчив правила вчора, то тепер не списував би 

на екзамені. 6. Якби він ліг спати о 21:00, він би відчував себе бадьоро зараз. 

7. Якби він не прочитав про це вчора, то сьогодні дізнався б про це від нас. 8. 

Якби ключ не був втрачений вчора, ми б зараз сиділи вдома і пили чай. 9. Якби 
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вони приїхали до нас учора, ми могли б усі разом вирушити на екскурсію 

сьогодні. 10. Якби ти послухався мене, мені не потрібно було б зараз викликати 

лікар. 

Ex. 15. Translate into English. 

1. Якби він учора не попав під дощ, у нього зараз не боліло б горло і не 

було б температури. 2. Якби вона закінчила переклад учора, їй зараз дозволили 

б прогулятися. 3. Якби вона сумнівалася в ньому, вона не вийшла б за нього 

заміж. 4. Якби їх познайомили раніше, вони зараз були б друзями. 5. Якби ви 

мені позичили трохи грошей учора, мені не довелося б іти додому пішки. 6. 

Якби ми з'їздили влітку на південь, то почувалися б бадьорішими. 7. Якби вона 

розповіла, де була вчора, він би не нервував зараз. 8. Якби їм вдалося дістати 

квитки вчора, вони зараз слухали б виступ цього відомого виконавця. 9. Якби 

його вихованню в дитинстві приділяли більше уваги, він був би більш чемною 

людиною. 10. Якби він не зламав ногу, вони сьогодні пішли б кататися на 

велосипедах. 11. Якби ви здали мені роботи вчора, сьогодні я їх перевіряла б. 
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I WISH 

 

1. The main use of 'wish' is to say that we would like things to be different from 

what they are, that we have regrets about the situation. 

 

He wishes he would leave tomorrow. 

He wishes he lived in Paris. 

They wish they had chosen a different leader. 

 

2. Notice that the verb tense which follows 'I wish' is 'more in the past' than the 

tense corresponding to its meaning. 

 

I never get invited to parties. I wish I got invited to parties. 

It's raining. I wish it wasn't raining. 

I went to see the latest film. I wish I hadn't gone. 

I've eaten too much chocolate. I wish I hadn't eaten so much chocolate. 

I'm going to visit her later. I wish I wasn't going to visit her later. 

 

3. In the case of 'will' , where 'will' means 'show willingness' we use 'would'. 

 

He won't visit me. I wish he would visit me. 

You're making too much noise. I wish you would be calmer. 

You keep interrupting me. I wish you wouldn't do that. 
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4. In more formal English, we use the subjunctive form 'were' and not 'was' 

after 'wish'. 

I wish it were Saturday today. 

I wish he were here.  

 

IF ONLY 

 

        Wish   simple past / past continuous 

        Regret    past perfect / past perfect continuous 

        Complaints   future in the past 

 

1. Expressing a wish – If only + Past Simple  

 

If only I knew how to use a computer.  

(I don’t know how to use a computer and I would like to learn how to use it). 

 

2. Expressing regret – If only + Past Perfect / Past Perfect Continuous 

 

If only I had woken up early.  

(I didn't wake up early and I missed my plane). 

 

3. Expressing complaining – if only + would + verb 
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I wish you wouldn't arrive so late all the time. 

(I'm annoyed because you always come late and I want you to arrive on 

time). 

AS IF / AS THOUGH  

 

Clauses that start with as if / as though describe an unreal or improbable 

situation if they are followed by an unreal tense (the past subjunctive or the past 

perfect subjunctive). Otherwise, they express that the statement is true. 

 

1. The past subjunctive after as if / as though indicates an unreal situation in 

the present. However, if the situation is true, we use a real tense to express present 

time: 

He looks as if he knew the answer.  

(He gives the impression that he knows the answer, but he (probably) doesn't 

know or we don't know whether he knows or not). 

 He looks as if he knows the answer. (He knows the answer) 

 

If we put the verb preceding as if / as though into the past tense, the present 

simple knows changes into past simple, whereas the past subjunctive knew stays the 

same. Therefore, both sentences will read as follows: 

     He looked as if he knew the answer. 

 

Consequently, the meaning of this sentence (whether he knew the answer or 

not) can only be deduced from the context. 
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2. The past perfect subjunctive after as if / as though is used to refer to an 

unreal past situation. If the situation is true, we use a real tense to express past time: 

     He seems as if he hadn't slept for days. (it seems that he hasn't slept for 

days, but he (probably) has or we don't know whether he has or not) 

     He seems as if he hasn't slept for days. (he hasn't slept for days) 

 

If the preceding verb is put into the past tense, the present perfect hasn't 

slept changes into past perfect, while the past perfect subjunctive hadn't slept stays 

the same: 

     He seemed as if he hadn't slept for days. 
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Ex. 1. Complete the sentences in such a way that it means the same as the 

sentence before it. 

He doesn’t have a job at the moment. –  If only / He wishes he had a job. 

 I’m not going to attend the party. – If only / I wish I were going to attend the 

party. 

 He married Alice instead of Francis. – If only / He wishes he had married 

Francis. 

1. I’m not tall, blond and handsome. – If only/I wish ______________________ . 

2. I was caught eating ice-cream. – If only/I wish _________________________ . 

3. He crashed the car when he got drunk. – If only/I wish ___________________ . 

4. She’s cooking fish again. – If only/I wish ____________________________ . 

5. Stop behaving like that! – If only/I wish ______________________________ . 

6. I failed my driving exam because I didn’t learn the rules. – If only/I wish____ . 

7. I don’t want to attend classes, but I have to. – If only/I wish _______________ . 

8. We’ve run out of coffee. – If only/I wish ______________________________ .  

9. I’m taking an exam tomorrow. – If only/I wish _________________________ . 

10. This conference has been a disaster. – If only/I wish _____________________ . 

11. It’s hailing outside. – If only/I wish _________________________________ . 

12. People at work rarely praise me. – If only/I wish  _____________________ . 

13. I acted very rudely in front of the boss. – If only/I wish __________________ . 

14. I don’t know how to drive a car. – If only/I wish ________________________ . 

15. She never follows my advice. – If only/I wish __________________________ . 

16. I can’t speak Portuguese. – If only/I wish _____________________________ . 

17. My girlfriend left me after we had argued. – If only/I wish ________________ . 

18. I lost a lot of money at cards. – If only/I wish __________________________ . 

19. Why don’t you ever look at me? – If only/I wish _______________________ . 

20. I want to go to the Hawaii for a holiday. – If only/I wish ________________ . 

21. I’m sorry I haven’t got many friends. – If only/I wish ____________________ . 

Ex. 2. Open the brackets using the verb in the appropriate form. 
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1. If only I _________ (not to drink and to kiss) Alice at the party yesterday. 

2. If only it _________ (not to rain) so much. The yard has turned to mud.  

3. If only I _________ (not to park) my car there, I wouldn’t have got a fine. 

4. If only I __________ (to have) more time for my family. 

5. If only it _________ (to rain) more often in Sevilla. 

6. If only I __________ (not to have to go) to your neighbor’s wedding.  

7. If only you ________ (not to smoke) cigars.  

8. If only it ________ (to rain). The kitchen garden is as dry as a bone. 

9. If only Sam ________ (to use) some better perfume.  

10.  If only you _________ (not to be) so horrible to your best friend. 

11.  If only the council _________ (not to demolish) that ancient building last year. 

It was the part of the old town’s heritage. 

12.  If only I _________ (to have) money to go to Singapore. 

13.  If only I _______ (not to tell) her she’d put on weight. She hates me now. 

14.  If only you ________ (not to speak) to your children like that. 

15.  If only we _________ (not to buy) a HP printer. Cartridges are so expensive! 

16.  If only George _______ (not to drive) so fast. It’s just a matter of time before he 

kills someone.  

Ex. 3. Open the brackets using the verb in the appropriate form. 

1. The poor student wished he (not to forget) to study the topic. 2. I wish I (to 

have) a season ticket to the neighborhood fitness club next autumn. 3. I wish I (to 

consult) the prof when I first felt that the subject was too difficult for me to realize. 

4. I love warm and sunny weather. I wish it (to be) warm and sunny all the year 

round. 5. I wish I (not to give) Nick my laptop: he has lost it. 6. I wish you (to let) 

me know as soon as you arrive in Manchester. 7. I wish I (not to have) to do my 

homework every day. 8. I wish you (to go) snowboarding with me the day before 

yesterday: I had much fun! 9. I wish I (to master) Latin and Old Greek. 10. He wishes 

he (not to eat) so much fatty food: he could not sleep last night. 11. I wish you (to 

study) more in future. 12. I wish I never (to remember) that man. 13. I wish I (to be) 
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at yesterday's exhibition: it must have been very interesting. 14. I wish we (to see) 

each other again next spring. 15. Don't you wish you (to watch) that movie before? 

16. They wished they (not to hear) her singing again. 

Ex. 4. Open the brackets using the verb in the appropriate form. 

1. He wishes he (can) give up smoking. 2. She wishes she (not to meet) him 

in London again. 3. I wish I (to pass) my exams last year and (to enter) the university. 

4. I wish I (not to forget) my wife’s anniversary yesterday. 5. The man is sad. He 

wishes he (not to break) his new car. 6. My beloved wishes he (to stay) with me last 

weekend. 7. He wishes he (to know) something about planets and stars. 8. I wish it 

(not to be) rainy and windy. 9. I wish it (to be) sunny and warm during our beach 

walk last Saturday. 10. She wishes she (to live) in Montenegro. 11. My friend wishes 

he (not to see) that last night. 12. I wish I (to bring) my camera with me last weekend. 

13. I wish I (to be able to) forecast the weather. 14. Do you wish you (to fly) to the 

Moon? 15. Some people wish they (to be able to) appear on TV shows in order to 

become popular. 16. She often wishes her life (to be) better. 

Ex. 5. Paraphrase the sentences using ‘I wish…’  

It's a pity you are ill. – I wish you were not ill. 

1. Unfortunately they won't come back before Easter. 2. The student was sorry 

he had not studied the material better and had shown such poor knowledge at the 

examination. 3. It's a pity that you did not send for us last night. 4. It's a pity you are 

not with us these days. 5. My friend regrets having failed her exam and  not having 

entered the university. 6. He was sorry not to have had enough time to finish his 

paper. 7. It's a pity we shan't be able to reach home before tea-time. 8. I am sorry I 

made you upset by telling you this news. 9. What a pity you don't know enough 

physics. 

Ex. 6. Translate into English using ‘I wish…’ 
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1. а) Шкода, що він такий незбираний. б) Шкода, що він мало серйозний. 

2. а) Я тепер шкодую, що не наслідував його рекомендації. б) Я тепер шкодую, 

що зробив так, як він мені сказав. 3. а) Шкода, що ви приїхали так пізно. б) 

Шкода, що ви не приїхали раніше. 4. а) Прикро, що ми пішли, не дочекавшись 

його. б) Прикро, що ми не дочекалися його. 5. а) На жаль, вони ще нічого не 

знають. б) На жаль, вони знають про це. 

Ex. 7. Translate into English using ‘I wish…’ or ‘If only…’. 

1. Шкода, що ви не сказали їй про це під час зустрічі. 2. Шкода, що ми 

зараз не на канікулах. 3. Шкода, що його зараз із нами немає. 4. Ми 

пошкодували, що не купили квіти та цукерки. 5. Шкода, що ви відмовилися 

випити зі мною кави. 6. Шкода, що вас не цікавить антропологія. 7. Ми хотіли 

б, щоб ви оприлюднили ці дані завтра на зустрічі директорів в понеділок. 8. 

Шкода, що ми запізнилися на весілля. 9. Шкода, що ви зацікавилися його 

здоров'ям так пізно. 10. Шкода, що в мене зараз так багато справ. 11. Шкода, 

що вчора я мав мало вільного часу, і ми не зустрілися. 12. Шкода, що ви 

присвятили цю книгу їй, а не мені. 13. Шкода, що ви не звернули уваги на цей 

знак на дорозі. 14. Він пошкодував, що розлучився з нею. 15. Шкода, що вже 

пізно заводити цю тему. 16. Шкода, що ти мене не дочекалася. 17. Шкода, що 

ви не читали цей твір у школі. 18. Шкода, що вона робить так багато помилок. 

19. Шкода, що ви не побували на зустрічі випускників. 20. Шкода, що я 

дізнався про ваше походження так пізно. 21. Як шкода, що ми не застали Тома 

та Мері вдома. 22. Вона шкодувала, що посварила дитину. 

Ex. 8. Translate into English. 

1. Якщо ми не зробимо уроків, нам не дозволять погуляти. 2. Якщо він 

отримає стипендію, то придбає необхідні канцтовари. 3. Шкода, що він не іде 

на конференцію сьогодні. 4. Що ви зробили, якби вам доручили цю роботу? 5. 

На жаль, вони не можуть припинити сваритися. 6. Шкода, що навіть сучасні 

технології не змогли допомогти врятувати цього хворого. 7. Якщо їй потрібно 
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написати курсову роботу, вона йде до бібліотеки. 8. Якщо вона не встигатиме 

з англійською та іспанською, їй доведеться займатися більш старанно. 9. Жаль, 

що ти захворів і не прийшов до мене на новосілля. 10. Якщо він прийде, вона 

одразу піде. 11. Шкода, що ти не розумієшся в людях. 12. Якби він зустрів тебе, 

він би обов'язково розповів про свої досягнення. 13. Шкода, що вона закохалася 

в непорядну людину. 14. Шкода, що він не спостерігав захід сонця з нами 

вчора. 15. На жаль, він рідко виїжджає до міста. 16. Якщо він вас не впізнає, 

дзвоніть мені. 17. Якщо ви проходитимете повз магазина «Подарунки», 

пам’ятайте, що треба купити йому презент на день народження. 18. Якби вона 

забула про нього, він нагадав би про себе. 19. Якщо дізнаєшся новину, дзвони. 

20. Якщо приїдете до нас, я покажу вам наш сад. 

Ex. 9. Translate into English. 

1. Якщо він закінчить інститут відмінно, батьки куплять йому машину. 

2. Якщо станеться щось подібне, він не знатиме, що робити. 3. Жаль, що він 

нічого так і не зрозумів. 4. Навіть якби він і був там, він уже нічого не міг би 

зробити. 5. Шкода, що його не цікавить стародавня історія. 6. Якби вона 

додавала молоко в каву, вона була б смачнішим. 7. Якщо матч закінчиться з 

рівним рахунком, вони стануть чемпіонами. 8. Якби не пішов дощ, вони 

продовжили б ловити рибу. 9. Шкода, що ти не хочеш піти завтра зі мною на 

концерт. Шкода, що квиток пропаде. 10. Вони не змогли б сьогодні так добре 

відповідати на занятті, якби не підготувалися вчора. 11. Якщо буде можливість, 

вона вас познайомить зі своїм братом. 12. Якби він не мав кашлю, він прийшов 

би вчора на конференцію. 13. Було б неприємно, якби їй зробили зауваження. 

14. Шкода, що для нього ніхто не є авторитетом. 15. Якби дороги не були 

такими слизькими, вони доїхали б вчасно. 16. Салат був би смачнішим, якби 

ви не додавали стільки спецій. 17. Якщо він не з'явиться протягом п'яти 

хвилин, його викреслять зі списку. 18. Якби цю роботу зробив він, вона була б 

зроблена якісніше. 19. Якби в під'їзді горіло світло, вона б не пошкодила ногу. 

20. Якщо вона не висипається, їй важко зосередитись. 21. Шкода, що ти такий 
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потайливий. 22. Шкода, що ти лише натякнув, а не сказав прямо. 23. Шкода, 

що у вас немає бажання танцювати. 24. На жаль, у нас закінчилася кава. 25. 

Якщо йому не хочеться йти до школи, він вдає, що в нього температура. 

Ex. 10. Translate into English. 

1. Я почуваюся так, ніби я не спала ніч. 2. Він не звертав уваги на шум і 

продовжував говорити, ніби нікого не було у кімнаті. 3. Вона співає, як 

професійна співачка. 4. Хлопчик мовчав, ніби боявся говорити. 5. Ви говорите 

зі мною, як із дитиною. 6. Дівчина була здивована, ніби ніколи не бачила нічого 

подібного. 7. Ти так важко дихаєш, ніби всю дорогу швидко йшов. 8. Він знає 

наше місто так, ніби мешкає тут дуже довго. 9. У вас такий вигляд, ніби ви 

щось втратили. Може, я вам можу допомогти? 10. Я пам'ятаю цей випадок, 

ніби він трапився зовсім недавно. 
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